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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
Statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least seven days
from the date of its publication and on the website of the Company at
http.//www.grandtg.com/.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text in
case of inconsistencies.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

The Board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, together with
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), hereby presents the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 March, 2022 (the “Year”).

With the effort of staff team and the support of our shareholders, the
Group managed to have more production days compared with the
previous fiscal year despite of the lasting impacts of the coronavirus
(COVID-19) epidemic especially a new wave in the second half of the
year. As a result, the Group has increased its product throughput and
revenues; turned net profits for the Group and further narrowed
losses attributable to the shareholders of the Company, compared

with losses of the previous fiscal year.

| am also pleased to report that following the reporting period, on 17
May 2022, the Company completed a rights issue raising net
proceeds of approximately HK$152.9 million which improved the
Company financial status, rendered the Company the ability to
resolve its outstanding financial obligations including some longtime
debts and disputes thus arisen and laid a groundwork for the
Company to execute its business plan for growth. Indeed, shortly
following the completion of the fund raising, the last unresolved
litigation against the Company was discontinued and the Company
now for the first time in about 11 years operates without material legal
proceedings against the Company. We thank our shareholders and
the rights issue underwriter for their contribution in the fund raising

and their trust of and confidence in the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

The Company is refining its business plan for growth in light of the
latest development, new opportunities as well as continued
challenges we face and expect, including continual effects COVID-19
epidemic, depreciating RMB against US and HK dollars, the global
geopolitical tensions in particular those between the US and China
creating uncertainties to the business environment, and the continued
pressure to our operating subsidiary for full compliance with the
increasingly stringent and strongly enforced environmental regulations
for the mining industry across the country. With the support from our
shareholders, business partners and other stakeholders, the
Company and management team remain committed to making the
utmost effort to achieving its corporate strategic goal of building a
high quality and high efficiency mining company through continued
improvement of the Group’s asset scale and quality and financial
performance, with the ultimate objective of sustained improvements

in returns to the Company shareholders.
On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and

mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$128.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 28.7% from approximately HK$99.8 million as

compared with that of the last year.

The increase in revenue was due to conscientious efforts by the
Group in offsetting impact of COVID-19 earlier in the Year and the
increase in the number of mine operating days as compared with last

year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, the Group’s gross profit was approximately HK$36.9
million, representing an increase of approximately 49.1% from
approximately HK$24.8 million as compared with that of the last year.
The increase in gross profit was primarily due to the increase in
revenue and other income. During the Year, the Group’s overall gross
profit margin was approximately 28.8% (year ended 31 March 2021:
24.8%).

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses were
approximately HK$2.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 41.6% from approximately HK$4.5 million as

compared with that of the last year.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
approximately HK$22.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 11.7% from approximately HK$25.1 million as

compared to the last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Profit/(loss) for the year

Consolidated Profit of the Group amounted to approximately HK$7.8
million for the Year (2021: Consolidated Loss of approximately
HK$16.6 million).

For the Year, the Group recorded a net loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$0.1 million, as
compared to loss of approximately HK$18.0 million recorded last
year. The net loss had been narrowed for the Year as compared to
the previous year mainly due to (i) an increase in revenue; and (i) the
gain reflected in the other income due to the waiver of an interest of a

loan due to the Group in the approximate sum of HK$14.5 million.

Loss per share
Loss per share was approximately HK cents 0.01 for the Year (2021:

approximately HK cents 1.14).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2021: nil).

Liquidity, financial resources and funding

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$4.4 million (2021: approximately
HK$5.9 million) and net current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$181.7 million (2021: approximately HK$169.1 million) whereas
inventories of the Group amounted to approximately HK$5.6 million

(2021: approximately HK$7.0 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the current ratio is approximately 0.19 (2021:
approximately 0.18).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
52% (2021:

borrowings over total assets.

approximately 52%), calculated based on total
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Borrowings
Borrowings information of the Group is set out in note 26 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Capital structure

On 17 July 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$30,095,357 to J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited (the “Subscriber”) under the convertible bonds
subscription agreement dated 10 April 2017. The subscription monies
payable by the Subscriber for the convertible bonds was settled by
way of set off against the debt due by the Company to the

Subscriber.

On 24 May 2022, the Company has paid off all the principal, the
outstanding interest under the said convertible bonds and that the

said convertible bonds have been redeemed in full.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$89,807,000 which were divided into 1,496,782,160 Shares of
HK$0.06 each.

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant capital

commitments (2021: nil).

Charge on the Group’s assets
As at 31 March 2022, the trade receivables of approximately HK$10.7
million (2021: approximately HK$11.3 million) were pledged to secure

the Group’s borrowings (note 26).

Treasury policies

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in HK$ or Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets

and liabilities.

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most of the
bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in the local currencies of
the operating subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange
risk. The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and
cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management reviews and

monitors the Group’s working capital requirements regularly.

Segment information
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Exposure to exchange risks

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are primarily
denominated in the respective group companies functional currency
which are mainly in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the exposure to

foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

Significant investment, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and future plans for
material investments or capital assets

The Group did not have any significant investment, material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

throughout the Year.

In addition, the Company is now focusing on developing and
strengthening its existing business and is exploring investment
opportunities in order to broaden the income stream of the Group,
enrich its reserves and resources, enhance the profitability of the
Group and eventually bring a fruitful return to the shareholders of the

Group.

Contingent liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 60 employees (2021: 61)
situated mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Hong Kong. The Group’s emoluments policies are formulated based
on industry practices and performance of individual employees. For
the Year, the total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$8.6 million (2021: approximately
HK$7.8 million). Details of employees’ remuneration are set out in

note 12 of the consolidated financial statements.

Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
Employees

The Directors are of the view that its employees are the keys to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Directors believe that the
Group maintains good working relations with its employees and

endeavors to maintain and improve the quality of its products.

Customers and Suppliers

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that meet
customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive vertical supply
chain management system through resource integration and supplier

screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with the strategic suppliers and to create competitive
advantages in the value chain, thereby aiming to enhance the impact
on the society and environment and to ensure that their suppliers
uphold similar stance in sustainability. The Group maintains long-term

relationship with its suppliers for ensuring stable supply.
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PROSPECT

Looking forward to 2022, the Company is in much better position to
execute its business plan for growth, following successful completion
of a fund raising in the post reporting period in May 2022. With the
significantly improved Company financial position, as of this reporting
date, the Company possesses the ability to resolve its remaining
debts and with the last litigation against the Company discontinued in
June 2022, the Company is now free from material legal proceedings
against it. With that, the Company is better prepared to implement its
development and growth plan, despite of the numerous challenges
the Company continues to face including uncertainties by the China-
US trade and geopolitical disputes, the continual effect of COVID-19
epidemic, ever tightening regulatory environmental protection
requirements in the PRC and other macroeconomic and policy

factors.

The Company is committed to continuing its effort to maintain and to
increase production activities, improve production efficiency and
competitiveness, and to expand the mining and mineral processing
ability, with a goal to improve the Group’s financial performance. At
the same time, the Group will look for new and potential growth
opportunities in a very diligent manner through mining asset merger
and acquisition, business integration and expansion, and new
business partnership and cooperation, to further enlarge Group’s
asset scale and broaden its revenue basis. The ultimate object is to
create and maintain sustained growth over years to increase the
Company’s values and to improve the returns to the Company
shareholders.

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE DEVELOPMENT
AND ORE MINING ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the Year, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
5,089 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 403
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 604 meters
of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 1,511 meters for
track laying and ditches.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

During the Year, the Group’s total expenditure for the mine

development and mineral exploration amounted to approximately

HK$38.9 million and approximately HK$O respectively.

Ore Mining

During the Year, the aggregate expenditure on the ore mining

operation of the Group was approximately HK$35.0 million.

RESOURCES AND RESERVES
Based on the findings pursuant to JORC CODE 2012:

1. Asof 31 March 2022, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.0 gram per

RAFE  AEEEERAELEENFENERY
2 Bl A #938,900,000 7 7T K 4] 078 JT, ©

U Falik
RAFE  ARBEAFAREHTN
35,000,000 87T ©

BRSO

ERREHE
JORCER (ZB—=FIR) B2 LM :

1. BEZZ-__F=A=+—H0 ®HA10%

tonne, the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group B2e /M2 RBNAE  NEENEHE
were: REREGERE R

Contained

Inventory Grade metal

78 m freel

(gram per (kilogram,

(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)

(Fug) (=BM 2% (Tr =@8)

Indicated resource THIERE 1,724 7.91 13,636

Inferred resource HEEIRE 1,555 6.60 10,260

Total FEE 3,279 7.29 23,896

2. As at 31 March 2022, under a cut-off grade of 1.9 gram per

2. @i_g::iiﬂiJr—El B9

tonne, the estimated probable reserves of the Group were: &/ MR R MO E - AEBEREA
?%E%EZ% :

Contained

Inventory Grade metal

®E A el

(gram per (kilogram,

(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)

(Fmg) (M- &Z52) (Tr &)

Probable reserves inventory TR RHERS 1,480 5.84 8,648
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong (“Dr. Li”)

Dr. Li, aged 64, joined the Company as an executive Director on 24
February 2016 and is also the chairman and the authorized
representative of the Company. Dr. Li also serves as a director of
SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia
Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 20 years
of experience in investment banking, mergers and acquisitions and
other financial activities. Dr. Li was graduated from Tsinghua
University in civil and environmental engineering and received a
degree in Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the University

of Toronto, Canada.

Ms. Ma Xiaona (“Ms. Ma”)

Ms. Ma, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 24 March 2016 and is a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Ma was
re-designated as an executive Director and the compliance officer of
the Company on 13 September 2017, and was also appointed as a
director of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining
Asia Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ma
graduated from East China University of Science and Technology in
Shanghai with a Bachelor’s degree in International Trade. She has
more than 20 years of experience in project financing, joint ventures
and mergers and acquisitions in China and Hong Kong, involving in
industries such as gold mining, other resources mining, traditional

manufacturing, and high-tech industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Guo Wei (“Mr. Guo”)

Mr. Guo, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 April 2016. He is also the chairman of
the nomination committee and remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Guo graduated
from Beijing Institute of Economic Research, majoring in Chinese
Language and Literature (undergraduate) in 1999. Since 2004, he has
been served as the chairman of the board of ;T i 2% & AR A &
(Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). He worked in the
T & B E B 52 5% 51 B (Survey and Design Institute of Post and
Telecommunications in Zhejiang Province*) from 1977 to 1987. He
worked in the Zhejiang Provincial Government Office in Guangzhou
and A IR g &% B 2 7] (Grand Southeast Group Corporation®) from
1988 to 1994. He worked as the general manager of 171/ & T B
ABJE (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel*) and the chairman of
the board of #1 M B £ #& & A 7 (Hangzhou Wuyun Investment
Company*) from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Guo has been engaged in
management for more than 30 years, including 20 years as the head
of enterprises, during which he gains extensive management

experience and strong coordination ability.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (“Mr. Lam”)

Mr. Lam, aged 66, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 December 2017. He is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company, a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, Australia ¢ New
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in
Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the United
Kingdom. Mr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director
of Macrolink Capital Holdings Limited (formerly known as Junefield
Department Store Group Limited) (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
758). He was an independent non-executive director of OCI
International Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 329)
from 28 April 2010 to 7 May 2018. Mr. Lam currently is a partner of
Grand Thornton Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lam had been head of
department in Southwest Securities International Securities Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 812). He was the former director and
Chief Executive Officer and is the shareholder of Jonten Hopkins CPA
Limited (the merger of former Aoba CPA Limited* (5 Z & &+EI S 757
and Albert Lam & Co. CPA). Mr. Lam was also the Managing Partner
and Founder of Albert Lam & Co. CPA.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (“Mr. Cheung”)

Mr. Cheung, aged 41, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 27 August 2018. He is also a member of the
audit committee of the Company. He is a chartered tax adviser of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Cheung
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an
honours degree in bachelor of arts in accountancy. He worked in
Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July 2004 to March 2014 and his
last position was audit manager. He is currently appointed as the
chief financial officer of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited (Stock
Exchange Stock Code: 1305). Mr. Cheng was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Ye Xing Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Exchange Stock code: 1941) on 17 February 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 64, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining and
merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China. Mr. Ma is
currently a member of People’s Congress of Tongguan County,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the general manager and
director of Taizhou Mining. He had served as director of China Gold
Association and executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi
Province. He had held senior management positions as the director
of the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi
Province, PRC, and the President of the Small and Medium
Entrepreneurs Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC.

Ms. Eva Lee (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) on 20 February 2020. She is admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong and focusing on capital markets and
corporate finance work. Ms. Lee graduated from the London School

of Economic and Political Science with Masters of Laws (Distinction).
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 5 to 15 of this report. Possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the Report
of the Directors on page 18 of this report and the Corporate
Governance Report on page 37 of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Fluctuation in the price of gold

The Directors consider that the price of gold in the PRC is highly
influenced by the price of gold in the international market (which is
denominated in the USD) and the exchange rate of the USD to RMB.
The Directors consider that there are many factors influencing the
price of gold in the international market, including global economic
situation, fiscal, monetary and trade policies of world major
economies especially that of the US government and US Federal
Reserve (its policies have caused and will likely continue to cause
USD appreciation against other currencies which would eventually
influence the exchange rates of the USD, fluctuation in major stock
markets, geo-political instability in the international arena, all of which
are beyond the control of the Group. The fluctuation in gold price
would affect significantly revenue levels, cash flow and profitability of
the Group. To mitigate and control the risk, the Group would continue
to make its constant effort in controlling cash cost for production and
overall cost for the Group operation, monitoring closely the
commodity market and aligning its production planning, growth
strategy and capital expenditure with projected market development

to the extent possible.
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Investment risks

Investments in mineral exploration and mining have its inherent risks.
Significant capital expenditures are usually required for business and
regulatory reasons in new exploration and sustained mine
development while the results particularly those for exploration may
not always be as expected or achieve the desired levels of reliability
for newly found mineral reserves and resources in the timely fashion.
The Group would mitigate and control such risks by conducting
proper risk assessment, using third party professionals and experts
and adopting the best practices in the industry, in investment
evaluation and decision-making process, including carefully planned
drilling and other exploration activities, mine development and

acquisition of quality mining assets.

Government regulations

The mining activities of the Group are subject to various government
policies, standards, permitting and regulations, all of which could
affect the Group’s operation. From time to time, there are government
initiatives for the mining industry such as mining right consolidation
which aims at creating larger mining areas from fragmented ones.
Furthermore, the process for review and extension of the existing
mining and exploration right permits, and review and approval of any
new mining and production facilities have become lengthy and costly
and with uncertainty. Even projects approved years ago and are
already under construction can be subject to review and approval
under a new set regulations and standards. The Group would mitigate
and control the risks by working closely with the government agencies
to negotiate the best deals in the consolidation programme to protect
and maximize the Group’s interests. At the same time, the Group
monitors and follows the policy development closely and works on
the best effort basis ahead of the anticipated changes to be prepared

and to comply.
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Environmental Protection

The nationwide campaign for building green mines has been
enhanced in the mining sector, under the PRC national strategy for
environmental protection. Virtually all major mining regions in the
country including the county where the Group operates are part of
this campaign. This involves permitting of mining only at certain
elevations, clear of any protective or natural reserve areas and strict
enforcement of pollution control standards, minimizing adverse
impacts of mining and processing activities to their surrounding
natural and social environments and to geology stability, mitigating
any adverse impacts from historical mining activities and landscaping
of the mine sites and surroundings in particular, the Xiao Qinling
mountains where the Company’s mine operates, have received the
attention for protection from the highest level of the country’s
leadership. A series of new provincial and local notices, guidelines
and circulars have been issued over the reporting period, some of
which targeted specifically to the mining sector. There could be very
specific requirements such as relocating accommodation of mining
workers away from mining sites. It is expected that the regulations will
be increasingly stringent. Furthermore, dedicated environmental
inspections for mining become a routine practice by a group
dispatched by the environmental authorities to the area where
Taizhou Mining operates. During the inspection period, the mine
production may be required to shut down if inspecting teams request.
A series of requirements for improvement in environmental protection
in the region as well as all the mines were raised as a result of the
inspection. Enforcement of these environmental policies and
standards may cause an increase in operating costs and any violation
could result in interruption of the Group’s normal production activities.
The Group has a policy to protect the natural and social environments
and to be in full compliance with all applicable policies and standards.
The Group has and will continue to take pre-active measures, reserve
sufficient financial and material resources, enhance management

team and improve planning and procedures to ensure compliance.
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Occurrence of COVID-19 Epidemic

The COVID-19 epidemic first occurred in early 2020, will likely cause
uncertainties to the economy in the PRC in the coming year. The
impact of the COVID-19 epidemic is likely to last in the near future
especially with respect to travel restriction, production shut downs

and meeting limitation.

Health and safety risks during of the COVID-19 epidemic may also
lead to labour shortage, increase in wages of the workers and/or
closure or interruption of the Group’s gold mines. The new waves of
the COVID-19 epidemic in several cities in the PRC have resulted in
much more strict control measures across the country including city
and/or community lock down even with sporadic cases. These
control measures and restrictions, if occur and/or persist for a
substantial period, may significantly and adversely affect our business

operation and financial performance.

Financial Risks

The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. During the
post reporting period, on 17 May 2022, the Company completed a
rights issue raising sufficient fund to cover the Company’s existing
debts and operating costs for the next 18 months. This significantly
improved the Company’s financial positions. Sufficient funding and
cashflow are key to the Group’s operation, development and growth,
as well as to meeting the Group’s financial obligations. The Group will
continue its effort to better manage its financials through both internal
operation by expanding its revenue base and enhance its profitability
and through fund raising as and if needed such that the Company
would have fund, for acquisitions of quality mining assets and
development. Implementing the Company business plan for growth
and achieving the corporate revenue and profit goals through
continued growth are fundamental to the Group’s financial health and

to control the financial risks.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND

REGULATIONS
During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has

complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in Cayman Islands,
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China in all material

respects for the business operations of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s environmental policies are to protect the natural and
social environment where the Group operates, to ensure full
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements and standards,
and to be sustainable in the Group’s operations. The Group strives to
minimize potential adverse environmental impacts from its mining, ore
processing, tailing disposal and other production and operation
activities. This objective for protecting the environment during the
Group’s operations will be achieved by adopting effective and
proactive, where appropriate, measures, including but not limited to,
upfront impact assessment for any and all new projects, careful
planning and execution of production activities with considerations for
environmental protection, collection and treatment of waste from all
streams and sources, recycling and reuse of treated waste where
possible, minimization of environmental discharge, rehabilitating areas
affected by the Group’s mining activities and endorsing community

participation and feedback, etc.

During the Year, the Group had not been the subject of any

environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or disciplinary actions.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company will
be announced on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the Company’s website within two months after the publication of the

annual report of the Company.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
64.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2021: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
176. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year

are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Convertible Bonds” of this report and note 29 and note 32(iv) to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement was

entered into by the Company during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2022 had been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) before they
were duly approved by the Board under the recommmendation of the
Audit Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes

or may compete with the business of the Group during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, there were no Company’s reserves available

for distribution to shareholders.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 100% of the total sales for the Year and
sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 100%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 100% of the total purchases for the Year and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
10.9%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Each of Dr. Li Dahong and Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, has entered into a

service contract with the Company for a term of three years

commencing from 27 September 2021.
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Each of Ms. Ma Xiaona and Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years

commencing from 28 September 2020.

Mr. Guo Wei, has entered into a service contract with the Company

for a term of three years commencing from 19 September 2019.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the articles of

association of the Company.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the annual
general meeting has an unexpired service agreement with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set

out on page 15.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company had been

entered into or existed during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company has in

force the permitted indemnity provisions which are provided for in the
articles of association of the Company and in the directors and
officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group

respectively.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2022, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and
short positions in Shares, underlying shares and debentures” above)
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:
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Number and class of securities

REXTRORAEBRG TR

EHEE REH Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HEBTRAZ
wEEB g4 [igv) HEHBAR 2 BHAES
Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 200,730,224 - 13.41%
BEM(TEEED EmEEA -
Interest of spouse 22,508,800 - 1.50%
[ 2 (Note 1)
(Btax1)
Zhao Yuebing Beneficial Owner 22,508,800 - 1.50%
B K EmEE A -
Interest of spouse 200,730,224 - 13.41%
[iRYER (Note 1)
(Htat1)
Yong Li Investments Limited Beneficial owner 106,893,333 - 7.14%
AR EBRA A EnlEEA (Note 2)
(Htst2)
Wang Dong Interest in a controlled 86,244,800 - 5.76%
corporation (Note 3)
TR ESra VNS o = (K15E3)
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Number and class of securities

EBEFHBERER Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HERITRGZ
wE/ LB 8 igv) HER D BMAOBE D
Midway International Holdings Beneficial owner 86,244,800 - 5.76%
Limited
hREIFRR D BRAE BEEEBEA
Zhou Yong Beneficial owner 116,666,666 - 7.79%
B BEEEBEA
Leung Heung Ying Interest in a controlled 13,333,333 - 0.89%
corporation (Note 4)
RER S VN £ (Ftata)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 5)
(Htats)
J. Thomson Asset Beneficial owner 13,333,333 - 0.89%
Investment Limited (Note 4)
BEREAA (Htat4)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 5)
(K1t 5)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Ma is the spouse of Ms. Zhao Yuebing. Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao
Yuebing is accordingly deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other under the SFO.

2. These Shares were held by Yong Li Investments Limited, a company
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Shing. To the best of the
knowledge, information and belief of the Directors and having made all
reasonable enquiries, Mr. Lee Shing passed away on 23 February 2022
and that his interest in Yong Li Investment Limited shall fall into his estate
which will be subject to administration.

3. These Shares were held by Midway International Holdings Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Wang Dong.

4. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the shares subscription agreement dated
8 June 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and the J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber.

5. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the convertible bonds agreement dated
10 April 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber. On 24 May 2022,
the Company had redeemed the convertible bonds under the said
convertible bonds agreement in full, as such, the subscription obligation
had been released on 24 May 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company had
not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying shares which were required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the
Company held on 27 September 2021, the Company adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on that date, subject to early termination by the

Company in general meeting.
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To enable the Company to motivate more persons to make
contribution to the Group and recruit additional talents to serve the
Group in attaining the long term objectives of the Company, the
Share Option Scheme has been adopted with a broader categories
of eligible participants, including full time and part time employee,
consultant, adviser, agent, contractor, customer, supplier and
shareholder of the Group (the “Participants”). Under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may determine
the grant of any options to the Participants to subscribe for ordinary
shares in the capital of the Company.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes must not,
in aggregate, exceed 30% of shares of the Company in issue from
time to time. The total number of shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company, including both exercised and outstanding options, to each
Participant in any twelve month period must not exceed 1% of the
then total issued share capital of the Company (the “Individual
Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
must be subject to shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the
Company with such Participant and his associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time from the date of grant of the option
to the date of expiry of the option as determined and notified by the
directors of the Company to each grantee but may not be exercised
after the expiry of ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price of the shares in respect of any particular option granted under
the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the board of
directors of the Company, in its absolute discretion, shall determine
and notify the Participant, save that such price must be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date grant; (i) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of

the Company’s shares.
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There was no grant of share options for the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: Nil).

As at 31 March 2022, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the Share

Option Scheme was nil (2021: nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Loans from Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao Yuebing, directors of Taizhou
Mining and thus connected persons of the Group, to Taizhou Mining
and to the Company were fully exempt connected transactions
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules as those were
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and were not

secured by the assets of the Group.

The Directors consider that those material related party transactions
disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements did not
fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed
that the Company has complied with the requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
included provident fund scheme, share option scheme as well as
discretionary bonuses. The determination of emoluments of the
directors of the Company had taken into consideration of their
respective experience, responsibilities in the Company and the

prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares was held by the public as at the date

of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Capital Reorganisation and Rights Issue

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company had
undergone reorganisation of its share capital involving share
consolidation, the capital reduction, the share subdivision, the
reduction of share premium account and the credit transfer, and the
rights issue on the basis of three rights shares for every one share (the
“Rights Issue”). A total of 4,490,346,480 rights shares had been
issued and allotted at the subscription price of HK$0.035 per rights

share.
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The actual net proceeds raised from the Rights Issue was
approximately HK$152.9 million. There was no net proceeds from the
Rights Issue for the year ended 31 March 2022. Up to the date of this

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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report, the Group has utilised the net proceeds as follows:

2R A HRR 2 BB FT1S 58 $ 5 549 152,900,000

BT o BEZE-F=A=1+—BHILFEHE
REHBAFTERIEFE HEAREHE &

SECBAMERIEFRNT

Intended

use of net Actual use of Unutilised Expected
proceeds as net proceeds net proceeds timeline
stated in the up to the date up to the date for the
Prospectus of this report of this report intended use

HRER EE EE

ERRZ RGERAH AHERH
FERETER FRERERE ABAME RERZEZ
RERSZ ERAR HERE HHRER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET FHET
Redemptions of Convertible bonds BBl A iR & % 30,100 30,100 0 Utllised as intended
RRHEA
Repayment loans from Ms. Zhao ~ BER g #/MANE R 55,500 55,500 0 Utllised as intended
BRAEA
Repayment of other indebtedness BB E MG 38,500 9,130 29,370 On or before
31 December 2022
RZB-—F
TZA=T—H%kAl
General working capital —REEES 28,800 5,870 22,930 On or before
30 November 2023
RZB-=%
T—RA=THZZH

152,900 100,600 52,300
Note 1:  The details of Rights Issue are set out in the Company’s Prospectus ezt BEHBRZFBEHENARTBHA-ZT ==

dated 21 April 2022 and the announcements dated 2 November

2021, 10 April 2022 and 17 May 2022.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
McM (HK) CPA Limited.

McM (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as auditor to the Group on 3
April 2020 to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation of
Gl CPA Limited with effect from 2 April 2020. The reason for the
change of auditor was that GI CPA Limited no longer intended to
carry out accounting and audit services in Hong Kong and has
ceased to be a certified public accountant and Public Interest Entity

auditor with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
McM (HK) CPA Limited term of office as auditor of the Company will

expire at end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain the highest standard of
corporate governance as it believes that effective corporate
governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder

value and safeguarding shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control, and transparency

and accountability to all its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company had complied with all Code
Provisions as set out in the Code in the Year, except for the following

deviation:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman of the Company is performed by Dr. Li, while the office of
the chief executive is vacated following the retirement of Mr. Feng Jun
on 11 September 2017. The Board will keep reviewing the current
structure of the Board from time to time and should candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company
will make appointment to fill the post of the chief executive as

appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than
the Required Standard of Dealings. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during
the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Eva Lee, a practising solicitor in Hong Kong, was appointed as
the Company Secretary on 20 February 2020 and responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board
procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications

among Directors as well as with senior management.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken more than
15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 5.15
of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group,
overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance, evaluating the performance of the Group and
supervising the management. In addition, the Board reserves the
authority to make final decisions for all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring of budgets, dividend payout,
material transaction, preparation and release of financial information,
appointment of Directors. The Board is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the Code.

The Board had reviewed the compliance of Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report including the board diversity policy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems. In order to enhance efficiency, the Board
has delegated the day-to-day responsibilities and operations to the
executive Directors and senior management who perform their duties

under the leadership of the chairman of the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises five Directors, including two executive Directors

and three independent non-executive Directors.

Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong (Chairman)

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

With the various experience of the executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and having regard
to the nature of the Group’s business, the Company recognises the
benefits of having a Board with well-balanced experience and
qualifications to maintain a sustainable business development of the
Group in the long run. In recognition of the Company’s commitment
to a well-balanced Board, the nomination committee is entrusted to
review the Company’s human resources policy and recruitment

process to ensure the effectiveness of such policy.
Details of Directors and relationship between the board members are

set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management” on page 14 of this report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity
policy. The Company believes that board diversity is a key element for
the Company to maintain sound corporate governance, realize
sustainable development and achieve strategic objectives. The
Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organizational changes. The Company considers that the concept of
diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such as
professional experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and
length of service. For the purpose of implementation of the board

diversity policy, the following objectives were adopted:

Independence: The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and independent non-executive Directors so that there is a
strong element of independence in the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their

views to carry weight.

Gender: The Company is committed to maintaining an environment of
respect for people regardless of their gender in all business dealings
and achieving a workplace environment free of harassment and
discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or mental state, race,
nationality, religion, age or family status. The same principle is applied
to the selection of potential candidates for appointment to the Board.

During the Year, the Board had one female executive Director.

Nationality and ethnicity: To cope with the diversified portfolio of the
Company’s businesses, the Company aspires to having a board of
directors of different nationality or ethnic backgrounds who can
contribute their knowledge and understanding of the environment in

which the Company operates its business.
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Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with

considerable experience in a range of activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the board diversity policy has the
following measurable objectives to comply with the GEM Listing

Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be

independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be independent

non-executive Directors; and

3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The implementation and effectiveness of the policy on board diversity
is reviewed annually by the Board. The Company has achieved the
measurable objectives under board diversity policy as at 31 March
2022.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

During the Year, 15 Board meetings and one general meeting were
held. Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors at
the Company’s board meetings, board committee meetings and

general meetings held during the Year:

Board
Meeting

Ezeed

EELEER

AEEEBTISREFERHAR —NBRAE -
PREFRAERRT2AAAEFGEH - 3
EZEEEGHRBEAGZ HFEHBIIMT -

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee Committee General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

ENZEE  HHZEE REZEE

L L g3 RRAE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HEEERY ARHFEERY

Executive Directors: BTES:
Dr. Li Dahong FREET 15/15
Ms. Ma Xiaona SEfiat 15/15

Independent Non-executive BYFHTES:

Directors:
Mr. Guo Wei PEEE 15/15
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum MEREE 15/15
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RIEHELAE 16/15

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

According to Code Provision D.3 of the Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company. The Board has the following duties and responsibilities for

performing the corporate governance duties of the Company:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on

corporate governance;
2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management of the

Group;
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3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the

Directors; and

5. to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report and in annual report of the

Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 under Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules, all Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Each Director received induction on the first
occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that
he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory

requirements.

During the Year, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development regarding their duties and responsibilities under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement which included reading
materials in relation to legal or regulatory update and attending online

training courses.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-

executive Directors to be independent.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or
proposal to be considered by the Board, such Director is required to
declare his interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is
considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no

material interest in the transaction.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, the Company had three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) to assist the Board in
discharging its duties and responsibilities. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are
able to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection

with their duties at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial
information of the Company, oversee the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors and

provide advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the Year and up
to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

5 meetings had been held by the Audit Committee during the Year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management the audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for
the three months ended 30 June 2021, for the six months ended 30
September 2021 and for the nine months ended 31 December 2021,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
auditing, risk management and internal control systems and financial
reporting matters. The audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit

Committee.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying qualified individuals to become members of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members.
It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skKills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following policies for the nomination of

directors.

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall consider the potential contributions
that a candidate can bring to the Board and/or the Group. The
Nomination Committee would consider a candidate in terms of
quallifications, skills, experience, independence and other factors. The

following shows a non-exhaustive list of selection criteria:

° the candidate’s race, reputation, character and integrity;

° the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business
judgment and experience which are relevant to the operations

of the Group;

° the relevant factors set out in the Board Diversity Policy (as

amended from time to time);

Nomination Procedures

The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall be
assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and the

Board against the Selection Criteria and the Board Diversity Policy.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to the
Board:

° the Nomination Committee may take such measures that it
considers appropriate in connection with its identification and
evaluation of candidates, including referrals from the Directors,

shareholders, management, advisors of the Company;
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° the Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the
character, qualification, knowledge and experience of the
candidate and perform adequate due diligence in respect of

such candidate; and

° the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations by
submitting the candidate’s personal profile to the Board for its

consideration.

The Nomination Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the Year and up to the

date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

For the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meeting.

Summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the Year

was as follows:

— To review and monitor the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and make recommendations to the Board regarding any

proposed changes;

— To identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as
additional Directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they
arise. The criteria to be adopted by the Board in considering
each individual shall be their ability to contribute to the effective

carrying out by the Board of its responsibilities; and
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— To make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief

executive officer.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and
compensation packages for the Directors and senior management of
the Group. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year and up to

the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

2 meetings had been held by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year.

Senior management’s remuneration
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:

Number of individuals

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, the fees paid/payable to the auditor in respect of the

audit and non-audit services were as follows:

BB AT <&
RAEEN - BN/ AU A BRI
BRI BAMT

Amount (HKS)
Types of services PR 75 28 Bl S£E (BT
Annual audit services FREEZRE 1,200,000
Non-audit services EEZRS -

DIVIDEND POLICY
The dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to its shareholder

the funds surplus to the operating needs, current and future business
development of the Group as determined by the Board. The
Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders subject

to the criteria as set out below.

In accordance with the article of association of the Company and
subject to the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company in
general meeting may from time to time declare dividends in any
currency to be paid to the Shareholders but no dividend shall be

declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the
Company, realized or unrealized, or from any reserve set aside from
profits which the Board determine is no longer needed. With the
sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared and
paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account
which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the

relevant laws under the Cayman Islands.
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Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rule, regulations and the
articles of association of the Company, in deciding whether to
propose an dividend payout, the Board will take into account, among
other things, the financial results, the earnings, losses and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements, the
debt ratio and possible effect on the credit lines, the capital
requirements, the current and future development plans of the
Company, the interests of the Shareholders, dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associate companies, and other

factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserve its sole and absolute right to update, amend, modify and/or
cancel the dividend policy. There can be no assurance that dividends

will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial statements
which give true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of
operations and cash flows of the Group in compliance with
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and statutory
requirements in relation to financial reporting. In preparation of the
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2021, for
the six months ended 30 September 2021, for the nine months
ended 31 December 2021 and for the Year, the Directors have
adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently.
The financial statements for the Year have been prepared on going
concern basis. The statement of auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in

the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being, it is
in net current liabilities, although there are no immediate concerns for
solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure to obtain
additional funding in a timely fashion however, may adversely affect
the Group’s operation and its development plan. The Group is how
actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several interested
investors/financiers, trying to raise fund raising to significantly alleviate
the current liability risks as well as improve its production performance
and profitability. Furthermore the Group is to continue exploring
investment opportunities for acquisitions for quality mining assets.
The successful implementation of these measures would
fundamentally improve the Group’s financial position and address the

current liabilities concerns.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group has
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement

or loss.
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The Group has conducted an annual review on whether an internal
audit department is required. Given the relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, the Group currently does not have an internal
audit function. Even though the Group does not maintain an internal
audit function, the Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The
Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external advisor
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting

function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to

safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Board performs annual reviews on any significant change of the
business environment and establishes procedures to respond the
risks result from significant change of business environment. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to mitigate

the potential losses of the business.
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The Group has engaged an independent professional party (the “IC
Expert”) to carry out internal audit functions by conducting an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems during the reporting period. The scope of review
included Corporate Governance, Financial Reporting, Sales and
receipt, Purchase and payment, Human resources management
cycle, Treasury management cycles and Information system. IC
Expert has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Company. All recommendations from |IC Expert have been adopted.
The Group is committed to implementing the suggested improvement
in the coming year and determined to establish and maintain

adequate risk management and internal control processes.

The Board approved and adopted an inside information policy and
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The insider information policy provide the guidelines to the directors,
management and relevant staff (likely possessing the unpublished
inside information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
procedures include, among others, regularly remind the directors,
management and relevant staff about the compliance with the
securities dealing restrictions as set out in the rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the notification of the regular “Blackout

Period”.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company encourages two-way communications with its
shareholders. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in our quarterly, interim and annual reports to be sent to the
shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their
shareholdings or the business of the Company are welcomed and will
be dealt with in an informative and timely manner. Shareholders and
investors may communicate with the Company by mail, telephone,
fax and email, details of which are made available on the Company’s
website. In order to promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website on which financial and other information relating
to the Group and its business are disclosed. The Board had reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder’s
communication policy during the Year, given the various means to
enhance the communication between the Company and its
shareholders, the Company considered that such policy was

effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk”
and “http.//www.grandtg.com”, respectively, after the relevant

shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/her contact
details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company

Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company by sending the same to the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact details and the
proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the general meeting
regarding any specified transaction/business and the supporting

documents.
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MCM

McM (HK) CPA Limited

To the shareholders of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand T G
Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 175,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary

of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which reveals that the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$185,488,000. In addition, the Group’s borrowings,
bonds and convertible bonds of approximately HK$13,134,000,
HK$13,838,000 and HK$28,754,000 respectively due within one
year, as disclosed in notes 26, 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively, exceeded its cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$4,444,000. Based on the current liquidity position
of the Group, the Group might have financial uncertainties which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
Group will be able to successfully achieve the outcomes as set forth
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements to meet its overdue
financial obligations from time to time. Our opinion is not modified in

respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have
determined: (i) impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and construction in progress;
and (i) assessment on the impact of current litigation cases which the
Company or its subsidiary is being the defendant to be the key audit

matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HARELBE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and
construction in progress.

ME - BERZE REEHBEERETEZIBRET
fi °

Refer to accounting policies in note 4(i), significant
accounting judgments and estimates in note 5 and
relevant disclosures made in notes 15 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ZBIM A0V ETBER - Mo E R G HIET R A5t
AN AR A BTSRRI E 15 R 17 /B Z ABREIREE -

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and construction
in progress relating to the gold mining operation which
amounted to approximately HK$757,064,000,
HK$63,065,000 and HK$55,279,000 respectively, were
allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU”) of gold
mining operation. The impairment assessment of CGU of
gold mining operation is a key audit matter due to its
significance and judgement involved.

RZTE-__F=A=+—HB BEXEEEESHKRE
BEBZYME BELRE KEEEBEENRE

## TH2 9 Bl A #) 757,064,000 7T - 63,065,000 7T &
55,279,000 7L BHoEE MR EBRESELEN
((REELEBEMN]) BHRESEUHRSRAE - BtE
CHRESREEEMREN G ABESZESE-

HAREZREE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EE2ERNARERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment

included:

BEEREMEET  ERREFEE
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Assessing management’s identification of CGU of gold
mining operation and impairment assessment policies
based on the Group’s accounting policies and
understanding of the Group’s business;

Bz EXESHABELRY ESEEBBMETG
EREBYHERREBRSELBMU 2 BRI MR E
R

Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review the
appropriateness of the value-in-use calculation
methodology adopted by management, the accuracy of
the calculations and the market data used;
ZREGEERHHESHRAIEEEMRANZEREER
HEZBEMN  sHEREAZ T8RRIt

Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions adopted by management in the preparation
of discounted cash flow underlying the value-in-use
calculation (including mining costs, gold prices and
discount rate) based on the business and industry; and
BEEBRITETEREREEENRETEAEESR
*EE%ZEEﬁfﬁiméﬁqﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁIxf&i%ﬁ(@%%ﬂm%$ :
BEBEBEITER)2AEBE &

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HARELBE

Assessment on the impact of current litigation cases
which the Company or its subsidiary is being the
defendant.

SPfE BTSN A TR E R AT
e -

4

E3 0

>

Refer to significant accounting judgments and estimates
in note 5 and relevant disclosure in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.
2R E M EMERM S W E RN SR FIE KRG R
A0V AERE IR ER -

The Group is involved in several litigation which the
Company or its subsidiary is being named as defendant.
The directors are of the opinion that a successful claim
made against the Group under these litigations is remote
under which the Group has merits in the defense against
these claims can concluded that no provision for these
litigations is necessary.

EEERBA ERRAXHNBRARARKESHE THF
e BERR - BEZFFHLM ESEXKERNRENT
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We identified the above matter as a key audit matter due
to the significant judgement made by the directors in
determining the possible outcome and implications on its
financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EE2ERNARERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the assessment on the

impact of current litigation cases included:

==
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Obtaining relevant legal documentations regarding those
litigation from the legal team of the Group;

B BESEENZEZEFRGEEZSHLNMEEEEX
(E3E

Discussing with the management and the Company’s legal
team on their views and seeking collaborative evidence
that applied to substantiate the position of the Company;
HERBER BERFMEREBREEERERRMN®
WERARBE BERRRANAIERE

Engaging an independent legal expert to assist us to
review and understand the litigation;
BEBEREER G E S MEEARERD

Considering the contingency of such litigation and its
potential financial impact that may have to cast on the
consolidated financial statements;
ZRBBRDOBAMNE AR HERE M BERRELD
BHEVBZE

Challenging the basis for the Group’s assessment that no
provision is required for these litigation; and

B SEEEHHARLFRDTIREGOT HEKE
)53

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure as set
out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
FHE BERERNERE TSR M40 S R 2 M o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the Other
Information. The Other Information comprises all the information in the
Company annual report other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIYRHEHRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT  #ZB{Eif B G S MR BARKIE
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ZEE#E)

STATEMENT (continued)
° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and °
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the °
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the °
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the °
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other =

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant =t

i

Bt

EEEMAE R ZRE L EE
FHER MR EZ A B

HEERABBKEGTEEZREMLE
L WIRIFECEBZERER BT
EEAFERASHRBEREBEZERTHBN
AL AJges BEREZHELERENR
Bkt MESFGHEWA/SFEEKRT
AR - BIZARNZBE RS E PIRARE
REIBHEEVBHRRAZEBPE - =X
HEBEKETE  BERTESZER - &
Eme AN B ERBE REE B M
G ZEBZRRE - AN REBHRBER
AEEEE EEETHRELE -

NS

AR AMBEBRRIBEBE®R  RBELA
R(BREEER) UWREAVBHRERE
BEALRBRBER S R EMH

B BEEEANERAEXBEDIUBKER
ESGRRNMEE ZBREE  URKEEHM
BHRRERER -BEFRERE BEER
Wi BEEEZERIE U#HERER
EERFEE -

HEZZEERB(ETRE)ERIEZ
18E  KRELREARZER  BRESERE

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control ZRIZHET R 2 MEPEEYE 2 (R B RFRFE o

that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIYRHEHRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

McM (HK) CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

XIA, YUNRAN
Audit Engagement Director
Practicing Certificate Number — P07797

24/F., Siu On Centre,
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai,

Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

2022 2021
—ZE_— —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaF FHExT FHT
Revenue Woas 7 128,434 99,807
Cost of sales SHE A (91,498) (75,028)
Gross profit E7 36,936 24,779
Other income and expenses, net HEmWA KRS - 55 8 19,897 3,279
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HEMY (2,626) (4,499)
Administrative expenses 1THER (22,134) (25,076)
Impairment losses on promissory notes & i, Z 1858 &5 18 - (2,000)
Operating results KB EIE 32,073 (3,517)
Finance costs BbE AR 9 (17,318) (13,599)
Profit/(loss) before tax BEATR N, (E18) 10 14,755 (17,116)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTis®t (FAx) e 11 (6,911) 549
Profit/(loss) for the year EERA,(FHE) 7,844 (16,567)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable: FERF],(EiE) FZERN :
Equity holders of the Company RRATERFFE A (137) (17,974)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR 7,981 1,407
7,844 (16,567)
HK Cents HK Cents
Al AL
(Restated)
(F&&E5))
Loss per share attributable to AATREEAELER
owners of the Company (HK cents) B (FB4l)
Basic HAR 14(a) (0.01) (1.14)
Diluted B 14(b) (0.01) (1.14)
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CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEaRkEtEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

2022 2021
—E-— - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
Profit/(loss) for the year FEER(FE) 7,844 (16,567)
Other comprehensive income for the year, FEHM2EWE - MR
net of tax: BIE -
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HERREEF D BEE 8w
profit or loss: EA :
Exchange differences arising from translation of BREGINIE A BT
financial statements of overseas subsidiaries FTEE ZIE X =5 14,807 28,092
Total comprehensive income for the year FE>EKNZHETE 22,651 11,525
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXEWNRBLERTEN
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ RSN 14,060 9,001
Non-controlling interests FEVE 8,591 2,524
22,651 11,525
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE BRI R

At 31 March 2022 W—=—ZF——F=H=+—H
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BtaF FH&xT THIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - ME KRS 15 757,064 723,058
Construction in progress EETRE 15 55,279 53,082
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 6,768 65
Mining rights related assets FIEERBEE 17 63,065 52,767
882,176 828,972
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 5,554 7,018
Promissory notes A EIE 20 = -
Trade receivables B 5 EWEEIE 21 15,697 11,345
Deposits, prepayments and other e FBNREREAER
receivables BRI8 22 16,351 13,812
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEHEEAE 23 4,444 5,916
42,046 38,091
Current liabilities =R
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 - 74
Trade and other payables FERTE SRR B ERS
BRIA 25 91,671 103,281
Borrowings ge 26 13,134 300
Bonds EH 27 13,838 13,337
Promissory notes L EIR 28 = -
Tax payables FERIFRIA 80,137 65,502
Convertible bonds AR E 29 28,754 24,717
227,534 207,211
Net current liabilities REEESE (185,488) (169,120)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBARS 696,688 659,852
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A AN
mE AR R R
At 31 March 2022 R-Z=——#F=H=+—0
2022 2021
—ZE_-— —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BtaF FH&xT THIT
Non-current liabilities kREEE
Trade and other payables B E SRR B RS
BRI8 25 35,913 1,328
Borrowings EE 26 388,758 408,492
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEAE 38 221 887
424,892 410,707
Net assets HEE 271,796 249,145
Capital and Reserves EARR#EH
Share capital A% A 30 89,807 89,807
Reserves fHiE 32 138,125 124,065
Equity attributable to equity holders of — ZNA Gz H AENE
the Company M 227,932 213,872
Non-controlling interests FEFER M 2 43,864 35,273
Total equity B 271,796 249,145

The financial statements on pages 64 to 175 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2022 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
TRE
Director

EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

G 2PN L
Foreign
Issued currency Share - Convertible Non-
share Share  translation Option notes  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
AEE  BRE TERTE
2Rk RBEE it il R EiTEB G FERER a5t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tér Tz TR TR TER Tén Tz TEx  TEx
Asat 1 April 2021 RZ_ZZ-FMA-R 89,807 1842983  (9331) - 12548 (1,722130) 213872 35273 249,145
Loss/{proft) for the year FEEE/(87) - - - - - (137) (13 7981 7,844
Other comprehensive income Ehzmis
Exchange diferences arisng fom ~ RAESSNHB A RIBRH%
translation of financial statements of ~ FiEE B EE
overseas subsioliaries - - 14197 - - - 14,197 610 14,807
Changes for the year EEEH - - 14,197 - - (137) 14,060 8,591 22,651
At 31 March 2022 ACE--F=A=1-H 89,807 1,842,983 4,866 - 12543 (1,722,067) 227,982 43864 271,796
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN
Foreign
Issued currency Share  Convertible Non-
share Share  tranglation QOption notes  Accumulated controling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-fotel  interests Total
WeRE  BRE TARER
BEARE  RIGER 1 i & ZHER N SRR @t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
Thr TEr TR TR TEx T TR TEr  TEx
Asat 1 April 2020 RZZ-EFMA-H 80807 1842983  (36,306) - 12543 (1,704,156 204,871 32,749 237,620
Loss/[profi) for the year EEER/(57) - - - - - (7974 (17974 1407 (16567)
Other comprehensive income Eh2ENE
Exchange diferences arisng from ~ RAESSNHBARBKHE
translation of financial statements o~ FiEE B EE
overseas subsidliaries - - 26,975 - - - 26,975 1117 28,092
Changes for the year FEZY - - 6975 - - (17.974) 9,001 2,524 11,52
At 31 March 2021 R_2--F=A=+-H 89,807 1,842,983 (9,331) - 12643 (17221300 213872 362713 249,145

69



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021/2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

2022 2021
—ZE_— —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaF FE&T FHEIT
Cash flows from operating activities RBEZKETHNRESRE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRE RS (E518) 14,755 (17,116)
Adjustments for: AT EEENRE
Depreciation on property, plant and M - B REEL R
equipment and mining rights related HIEEMEEEED
assets e 39,340 36,250
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENTE 203 519
Finance costs BB 17,318 13,599
Gain on waiver of interest of BB A BRI ES
borrowings (14,529) -
Gain on waiver of interest on ek EER B/
convertible notes e - 167
Gain on waiver of other payables e E M EMRIBEA G - (196)
Interest income FLE A (57) (14)
Impairment losses on promissory R EE R
notes - 2,000
Operating result before working REEESEBANKE
capital changes 4 57,030 35,209
Changes in inventories FEE 1,755 1,942
Changes in deposits, prepayments & BNEIEREA
and other receivables JRE LT B TE B (1,969) 1,395
Changes in trade receivables E S RWRIEES) (3,905) (11,345)
Changes in trade and other payables [ & 5 85 3 I E fh fE 1+
BRIAE 23,778 38,898
Cash generated from operation REEXBEE RS 76,689 66,099
Overseas taxes paid EREINEIE - -
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEe R 8 39 (1) (45)
Net cash generated from operating HEHREE FBELZHRERE
activities 76,688 66,054
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

2022 2021
—Eg=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaF FE&T FHEIT
Cash flow from investing activities RETHEEZRERE
Purchases of property, plant and BEYE  BELEE
equipment (39,658) (41,588)
Expenditure incurred on mining rights ~ IRIEEHBEEEL 2
related assets 53 (13,174) (4,568)
Proceeds from disposal of mining REFEEABEELNE 2
rights related assets Frissk18 1,279 -
Expenditure incurred on construction ~— AR ILIREA Z X
in progress - (57)
Expenditure incurred on right of use FTRBEEEE X
assets (6,906) -
Interest received EFI B 57 14
Net cash used in investing activites R&EEEFIA RS EE (58,402) (46,199)
Cash flow from financing activities RETBHZ2RERE
Proceeds from borrowings raised REFEEERHMEHIA 39 34,494 52,562
Repayment of borrowings EEER 39 (53,126) (48,709)
Repayment of convertible bonds BRI ES 39 (1,208) (1,207)
Principal element of lease payment HENRZAEHD 39 (75) (555)
Repayment of promissory notes EEAHER = (12,500)
Repayment of bonds EEES - (6,267)
Net cash used in financing activities ®E&EEFA RS EE (19,915) (16,676)
Net (decrease)/increase incashand HE&¢REELZHEER
cash equivalents CRiD),/#EhnsEE (1,629) 3,179
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ROEA—BzRekRE
Z{EIEA 5,916 2,141
Effect of foreign exchange rate MEREE) 2 B FEE
changes, net 157 596
Cash and cash equivalents at R=ZBA=+—HAZERE£R
31 March REZEERE 23 4,444 5,916
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room A-B, 8th
Floor, Centre Mark Il, 305-313 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to
as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is the functional currency of the Company, with
values rounded to the nearest thousand. The functional currency
of the Group’s operating subsidiary, Tongguan Taizhou Mining

Company Limited (“Taizhou Mining”) is Renminbi (‘RMB”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group are discussed in Note 4 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$185,488,000. In addition, the Group’s
borrowings, bonds and convertible bonds of approximately
HK$13,134,000, HK$13,838,000 and HK$28,754,000
respectively due within one year, as disclosed in notes 26, 28
and 29 to the consolidated financial statements respectively,
exceeded its cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$4,444,000.

Based on the current liquidity position of the Group, the Group
might have financial uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In
preparing these consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the impact
of the current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group. The
validity of the Group to operate as a going concern is dependent
upon the successful outcomes of the Group to (i) attain profitable
and positive cash flows from operations; and (i) renew or extend
the existing borrowings, complete debt financing or obtain new
credit line, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements and financial obligations of the Group. Having
considered the above scenarios, the directors considered that it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. In order to strengthen the
Group’s capital base and liquidity in the foreseeable future, the

Group has taken the following measures:

e the directors of the Company have been taking various
cost control measures to tighten the costs of operations
and implementing various strategies to enhance the

Group’s revenue;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
e negotiating with lenders to extend the repayment terms of
borrowings, including borrowings and bonds and

convertible bonds ; and

e  Continue to seek alternative debt and/or equity financing to

meet cash flow requirement.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and having
taken into account the available financial resources of the Group
together with the above measures and the completion of rights
issue on 17 May 2022, the directors are of opinion that the
Group is able to continue as a going concern and to meet their
financial liabilities as and when they fall due for the next twelve
months. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been

reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSS 3. ERAHIIR SIS BMERE
AR

FE R #ET KRBT BB M BHREER

The Group has applied the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a)

AEEERRESEEMBHRERERE
AHEEEAMAG((EEETMA
ENEHMAR-_F-_—FHUA—BX
Z & Fm e FE R R M FB
BT R A R h SRS AR 2R A B A (12
FIA) AR T HIE BB 1 s ERER]
N

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark ERMBREERER - FEREENE
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2 BB ERE9R - - BKBR
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 BRM GRS LR

FT% - BENBREE
RIE 45 R EBEBRE
ERIE 165 (BETA)
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent ERPHRELLFE 6%  Covid-1918H A
Concessions CHES) 2ER
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent EAMBEREEAFEI6E —T-—F~A
Concessions beyond (B3I ) =t+H%EMN
30 June 2021 COVID-191E %
feEs
Except as described below, the application of the BRIt EIN - RAFEERAEHS

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSS 3. ERAHIIR SIS BMERE

(Continued) 28 (#)
(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued) (@) EAFITRLETEBHEREEA
(#&)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phrase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i)
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities as modifications, and (i) discontinuing
hedge accounting when an interest rate benchmark is
replaced by an alternative benchmark rate as a result of the
reform of interbank offered rates (“IBOR reform”).

The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group does not have contracts that are
indexed to benchmark interest rates which are subject to
the IBOR reform.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions and COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

The amendment provides a practical expedient that allows
a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate whether certain
qualifying rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19
Related Rent Concessions”) are lease modifications and,
instead, account for those rent concessions as if they were
not lease modifications. The 2021 amendment extends this
time limit from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

Consequently, rent concessions received have been
accounted for as negative variable lease payments
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurred. There is no
impact on the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —ZE - —#F=H=+4—HIFFZ

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSS
(Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning on or before 1 April 2021. These
new and revised HKFRSs include the following which may

be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business 1 January 2022
Combination — Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property Plant 1 January 2022
and Equipment — Proceeds before

Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous 1 January 2022
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 1 January 2022
— 2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of 1 January 2023

Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of 1 January 2023
Financial Statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies
Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting 1 January 2023
Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors — Definition of
Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes 1 January 2023
— Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a Single

Transaction
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

(Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The area
involving critical judgement, and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these financial statements, are

disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below:

(@) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.

activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@) Consolidation (Continued)

4. EXRGFTHERME @)

(@ =&kE (&)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential e HIE S AEFEeEZEHE

voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the

holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign

currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between the non-

controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly

in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for

sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and any
contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs
are incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are

measured at their acquisition-date fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., ERETHERBE (&)
POLICIES (continuead)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

(b) EBEHREE(E)

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the
consideration transferred is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the consideration
transferred in a business combination to calculate the

goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units
(“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews
are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is
compared to its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(©

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of gold concentrate is recognised
when control of the gold concentrate has transferred, being
when the gold concentrate had been dispatched to the
buyer’s specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the
buyer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the gold, has the primary responsibility when
on selling the gold and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the gold. A receivable is recognised by
the Group when the gold are delivered to the buyer as this
represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage

of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of

the asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost of self-constructed properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant,
of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an

appropriate proportion of production overhead.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or

loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

— Freehold land is not depreciated.

— Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated
over their estimated useful life, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10-30 years

—  Others 3-10 years
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and

its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised and measured on initial
recognition at cost only if the related economic benefits will
probably flow into the Group and their costs can be
measured reliably. However, the intangible assets acquired
through business combination not involving enterprises
under common control should be measured at fair value
separately as intangible assets when their fair values can

be reliably measured.

The useful life of the intangible assets shall be assessed
according to the estimated beneficial period expected to
generate economic benefits for the Group. An intangible
asset shall be regarded as having an indefinite useful life
when there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which
the asset is expected to generate economic benefits for the

Group.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method or
other reasonable systematic methods. For an intangible
asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful
life and amortisation method at least once at each financial

year-end, and makes adjustments when necessary.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
assets are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights with definite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Amortisation is provided using the unit of
production method based on the actual production volume
over the estimated total proved and probable reserves of

the ore.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Exploration and evaluation assets

(h)

These are stated at cost less impairment loss. Exploration
and evaluation assets included topographical and
geological survey drilling, exploratory drilling, sampling and
trenching and expenditure incurred for the technical
feasibility studies and incurred to secure further
mineralisation in the mine ore. Expenditure incurred prior to
obtaining the exploration and evaluation rights to explore
an area are written off as expense as incurred. Once the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting
the mineral resource had been determined and that the
project reaches development phase, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are amortised. If exploration
property is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the

total expenditure thereon will be written off.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets may

exceed its recoverable amount.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.

86

4. EXRGFTHERME @)

(0 BERFEEE

(h)

B KRS E E R A RUR E R RS
e WRMFREERETE RIE
BERES BRI B ERR
ERMAIITEMREE 2 - UK
REUSIER 2 KRy mEL 25
X o RSB R BB IR R
RIEAZAXIEREELFMME -
FARIRE BIR 2 Bt R E A 1T —
KEENMARBEARZRER BE
AL Z BY IR R fF A AN T LA B 3K o i
BRI E N TSP B ERR - RIAREE
5 ST AR RE R AR LSS

HREFHEEENLRYDRELTEE
ERAEAEBLEATRESE LS
BERIERERHERE o

HE

REHRILE  AEESFHEANE
BREEXREEHE - MENETE
— BB EHI O B B E R
MABBARE  IAHNREERER
ME - -WEFPERIECRANEELZ
R R IEZ B g P EGEE DR
e - BEFIECERE -



REESERBRAA
—E-— BT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an

expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
except for the right-of-use assets that meet the definition of

investment property are carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Leases (Continued)

4. EXRGFTHERME @)

(h HEGE)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets
at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful

life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-

of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been

reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment properties and lease liabilities
separately in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

i)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that
are not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the

individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being

measured.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0

Inventories
The Group’s inventories include raw materials, work in

progress and finished goods.

Inventories are initially measured at cost. Cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of processing and
other expenditures. The actual cost of inventories upon

delivery is calculated using the weighted average method.

At the end of the reporting period, inventories are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. If the net
realisable value is below the cost of inventories, a provision
for decline in value of inventories is made and recorded in
profit or loss for the current period. After the provision for
decline in value of inventories is made, if the circumstances
that previously caused inventories to be written down
below cost no longer exist so that the net realisable value
of inventories is higher than their cost, the original provision
for decline in value is reversed and the reversal is included

in profit or loss for the current period.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion, the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale and relevant taxes. For raw materials, provision for
decline in value is made based on the categories of
inventories. For finished goods, provision for decline in

value is made on an item-by-item basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or

loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the

counterparty.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending on the classification of the financial

assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one

of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the

effective interest method.

— FVTOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows of
the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by both
the collection of contractual cash flows and sale.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity

to profit or loss.

— FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment

(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It
is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit

or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

()  Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after

the reporting date.

(i) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,

in which case they are stated at cost.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial Liabilities (Continued)

(i) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a

liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible notes is measured at fair value based on
the present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The
equity component is initially recognised at the
difference between the fair value of the convertible
bonds as a whole and the fair value of the liability
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to the

allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the capital reserve until

either the bonds is converted or redeemed.

If the bonds is converted, the capital reserve, together
with the carrying amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the bonds is redeemed, the capital reserve

is released directly to retained profits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Offsetting of financial instruments

(n)

(0)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets

and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount

is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

97

4. EXRGFTHERME @)

(m) EHESWMTAE

(n)

()

HREFE B R ATAIETRE
MUARHEE RIS HABNFE
HEIRBEREENFERE A
CRHEENESBRBEIMAKE X
KFBRIIAGZA M BAHRARA

W E 2 AR R H b FE W R TE

P M5 Bl TR A 7 2 1B L AR A MU (B
BRI B T A RR, © M A (B (2 BE A )
HBNER SR HEN - AIKERR(E
FR) R ) A R AR A o M1 10 A R T LA 46
AR ERERN 2 A2 ERSA
AEREBARINS—HANWEE -

FEH AR B R A B R A RO IR M 3R A
BIEEBERBEIR -

RERREEEERE
RAehkR2EEEERERTRTH
Be ROTMEMSREENEHTT
AR AR B S B E M BRER & 1
REERBERE (ZEREMEHH
BEZPEARITEN  IRBAL
FZEARZE) EREEAESR
EXK HehBeFEEANTERE
BEBREERBRASERSERE
—HoMRITEX - REeRBAEHF
BB ETEREEEERNE -



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021/2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this

translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange

rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or

loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuead)

(p) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated

into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates

on the transaction dates); and

— Al resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of the
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the

gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asses. Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., ERETHERBE (&)
POLICIES (continuead)

(N Employee benefits (Continued) n EERIGE)
(i) Retirement benefits schemes (i) EIKEFIFE

The Group operates the below post-employment NEFEBZ BT BER & RIKE
schemes which are defined contribution pension g BNAEHFRARESEE
plans:
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund AEBEBBERERGMEAESE
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong SHEB (&0 ) BEFMBEEA
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the B EEBEERFIERE SR E
“Ordinance”) for all qualifying employees in Hong ([RFERETE]) - AEEMEIE
Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme R EENIREEFERIEDN
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject 5%FrH - BHEET A LRIV
to a monthly maximum amount specified in the Bl ETER B M EH 8 & 5T 2t
Ordinance per employee and vest fully with employees FETEEEBESMA °

when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries participated in FENBAFTMNEED2HEMATF
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans WA R T R A R AR
operated by the relevant municipal and provincial EIREFEEN Z IR E HFUR
social insurance management bodies in the mainland REAEE - B PEMBA
of the PRC under which the PRC subsidiaries and its AINHESAREES AELRH
employees are required to make monthly contributions st E R E R R E MR EFETE
to these plans at a stated contribution rate based on AR -

the monthly basic compensation of the employees.

The retirement benefit costs charged to profit or loss B 18 2= R AR K18 R AR R AR
represent contributions payable by the Group to the SEERZEESIEL AR -
funds.

(iii) Termination benefits (iii) BEBLEF
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of BERENRNAEETBREZS
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the BAMEHE RS EEREAE
offer of those benefits, and when the Group FRZRL 3 B 3745 ol B AR 61 B (AR
recognises restructuring costs and involves the FHEAE)®R -

payment of termination benefits.
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e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based

vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-

market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if the
fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group

receives the services and is recognised as an expense.
Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and

deferred tax.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable

profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale. If
the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties are measured based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be

recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of

the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends

to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may

be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment,

which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.
Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(w) Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them

with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the

respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, if any. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where

appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are

possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic

information that relate to the Group’s core operations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A

financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its

contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iiy adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil

its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and

there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on

the contract.

110

4. EXRGFTHERME @)

)

EREEREE)
=EmpEAIEE (&)
BEELARTE ERmEAHSAE
TARHAERSEARERERERR &~
SEeRReMIAZEERRED
SRR AR RFBE LT - A THE
AT EMTASWHAESAARIE
EERR

) ==BTAREREEZQER:

(i) EBABRBOENBITOH
BHHRSREER X

(i) KEEREERRRATNE)
BRI ER LR EBRABT
BRESRERE IS

MEEIEEEFRRSERBRZ MR
B SHIMNBREAR AT - MEBE
AEHFEAIRFLE] AIREER
REEBREERRKEERR - KB H
BEX S FHBRNES B I EE
HAFRIA o

M BRERANME  AREKAT
AR AGE — 77 2 B R AR Rt el
ERMTABEZNHER R - KT
BEERREBMBERE OVIEER
EEBRBERNE  AREEEE
EEEBAREQZER 2 EE) o



REESERBRAA
—E-— BT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past

due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the

counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021/2022

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

counterparty;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

the disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount

that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit

or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking

information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the
expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive

from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was

used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the

financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Event after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors

have made the following judgments that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated

financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,

which are dealt with below).
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021/2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon the success of the Group in generating sufficient cash
flows from operations and utilising its future financing
resources to meet its financial obligation as they fall due for

the foreseeable future. Details are set out in note 2 above.

Renewal of the group’s exploration permits

As detailed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain of the Group’s mining right permits had
been expired or to be expired within one year. The renewal
of such are subject to the discretion of relevant government
authorities. Based on past experience, the directors are of
the opinion that these permits would be renewed
successfully. Should the renewal of these permits were
unsuccessful, impairment on relevant property, plant and

equipment and mining rights related assets arise.

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable

forward looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5. EXETHERMAE &)

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of trade and other receivables and
promissory notes
Management regularly reviews the impairment of trade and
other receivables and promissory notes to ensure
appropriate impairment loss for trade and other receivables
and promissory notes are recognised in consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

Where differences between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all cash flows that the Group expects to receives,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to change in
facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may

arise.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no allowance for
impairment losses under ECL was made on the Group’s
promissory notes (2021: HK$2,000,000). No allowance for
impairment loss under ECL was made on the Group’s
trade and other receivables (2021: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Impairment of trade and other receivables and
promissory notes (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group included promissory notes
of approximately Nil (net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$4,000,000) (2021: Nil (net of accumulated impairment
loss of HK$4,000,000)), trade receivables of approximately
HK$15,697,000 (2021: HK$11,345,000), and other
receivables of approximately HK$4,250,000 (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$2,438,000) (2021:
HK$5,957,000 (net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$2,438,000)).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and machinery of similar nature and functions. The
estimated useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of
the period that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s property, plant and

equipment.
As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s

property, plant and equipment was approximately
HK$757,064,000 (2021: HK$723,058,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

5. EXBFHE R @)

A THBAEENEERR(E)
() V¥ BMERKE FRRFEENE

(c) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, mining

rights related assets and construction in progress

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment, mining
rights related assets and construction in progress is reviewed
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable in
accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed in note
4() to the consolidated financial statements. The recoverable
amount of these assets, or where appropriate, the cash-
generating unit to which they belong, is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. The Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the

net present value used in the impairment test.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no impairment
losses (2021: Nil) was made on the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, mining rights related assets and
construction in progress. As at 31 march 2022, the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment, mining rights
related assets and construction in progress were
approximately HK$757,064,000, HK$63,065,000 and
HK$55,279,000, respectively (2021: HK$723,058,000,
HK$52,767,000 and HK$53,082,000, respectively).
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Mine resources and reserves

(e)

Mining rights related assets are amortised over the
estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance with the
production plans of the entities concerned and the mineral
resources and reserves of the mines using the units of

production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group’s
gold reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgments involved in developing such
information based on available geological, geophysical,
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance
becomes available and as economic conditions impacting

mineral prices and costs change.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s
mining rights related assets was approximately
HK$63,065,000 (net of accumulated amortisation of
approximately HK$23,344,000) (2021: HK$52,767,000 (net
of accumulated amortisation of approximately
HK$18,787,000)).

Provision for claims on litigation

When accounting for provision for claims on litigation against
the Group, the Group has taken internal and external advice
in considering known claims and actions made by or against
the Group. It carefully assesses the likelihood of success of a
claim or action. Assessments and estimations on provisions
are made for claims or actions against the Group on the
basis of likely outcome, but no provisions are made for those
which in the view of management are unlikely to succeed.
No provision (2021: Nil) was made in the consolidated

financial statements in relation to claims on litigation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported internally to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the types of goods

delivered or services provided.

This is also the basis upon which the Group is organised and
specifically focuses on the Group’s operating divisions. No
operating segments identified by the Board have been

aggregated in arriving at the reporting segments of the Group.

The directors primarily use a measure of profit/(loss) after tax to
assess the performance of the operating segments. However,
the directors also receive information about the segments’

revenue and assets on a monthly basis.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

()  Exploration of gold mine which principally engages in the
operation of exploration, mining, processing and sale of

gold concentrate and related products;

(i) Corporation which principally engages in investment

holding.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of the product and service line requires different resources
as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers are

carried out at arm’s length prices.
Segment results do not include finance costs. Segment assets

and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the

segments.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ##Z —ZE - —#F=H=+4—HIFFZ

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. o0 ﬁ*# &)
Segment information by operating segments is presented as IRIRE S EE| S 7 DERERI 250 ¢
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-—ZE-—F=ZA=+—HLEE
Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
HELHE 1ok EIf: et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FET FH& T FHET FHET
Segment revenue: 7 EBUA
Revenue for external REINEEP 2 Was
customers 128,434 - - 128,434
Gross profit EF 36,936 - - 36,936
Other income and expenses,  Hithg A KFIs
net et 19,897 - - 19,897
Operating expenses FEEE =] (12,432) (12,328) - (24,760)
Segment results DEPFELE 44,401 (12,328) - 32,073
Finance costs RUE AR (8,635) (8,683) = (17,318)
Profit/(loss) before tax BEipE A, (E1E) 35,766 (21,011) = 14,755
Income tax (expense)/credit PRI (FIsZ) HE %R (7,577) 666 - (6,911)
Net profit/(loss) for the year FRE A (EE)
HEE 28,189 (20,345) - 7,844
Segment assets DEE E 1,085,815 177,533 (339,126) 924,222
Segment liabilities NEEE (895,286) (415,661) 658,521 (652,426)
Capital expenditure BRI (99,216) (65) - (99,281)
Depreciation and amortisation  #7 & 44 (39,478) (65) - (39,543)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZTHER®)
Year ended 31 March 2021 BHE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIFE
Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
% 1~ 15 HaEt
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000
FHT FHT FHIT FHIT
Segment revenue: 7 EBUA
Revenue for external REINEBE P 2 Wz
customers 99,807 - - 99,807
Gross profit EH 24,779 - - 24,779
Other income and expenses,  Hithg A K
net FEE 2,734 (1,455) - 1,279
Operating expenses KEER (15,396) (14,179) - (29,575)
Segment results DEBEELE 12,117 (15,634) - (3,517)
Finance costs BB (7,164) (6,435) - (18,599)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREL AR (E518) 4,953 (22,069) - (17,116)
Income tax credit g i e - 549 - 549
Net profit/(loss) for the year FREF,(E8)
HEE 4,953 (21,520) - (16,567)
Segment assets DEEE 866,253 332,610 (331,800) 867,063
Segment liabilities nHEE (762,849) (497,951) 642,882 (617,918
Capital expenditure =N (46,149) (530) - (46,679)
Depreciation and amortisation  #78 & & §4 (35,090) (530) - (35,620)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and other
parts of the PRC whereas the principal markets for the Group’s

products are mainly located in other parts of the PRC.

Segment information by geographical segments is presented as

6. TEPER (@)
Hy 13,5 26
AEBMYEBUREERPELMBBE -
MAEEESZETETHERAREL M
& o

i D #EI D 2 D EEHZFIIT

follows:
2022 2021
—g—— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Segment revenue by location of REFMEME D 25 B
customers
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and FE(NEIERS - RBFIK
Taiwan a7 128,434 99,807
Non-current assets FRBEE
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and FE(TBESS - B R
Taiwan =) | 882,176 828,899
Hong Kong B - /3
882,176 828,972

Revenue of approximately HK$128 million (2021: HK$100
million) which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer.
There is one (2021: one) customer for the segment of Gold
Mining contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenues for
2022.
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e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

7. REVENUE

7.

Revenue represents the net value of goods sold, net of trade

discounts and returns and various types of government

surcharges where applicable:

W 2
WaEEoHEER 2 FE(SHREST
- REMTREEZBRAMHINE(0E
)

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Revenue recognised at a point in time within &8 B #5342 81|55 15 55 0 &
the scope of HKFRS 15 R B [ Bh AR A U 2
Sale of gold concentrate HEBSE 128,434 99,807
128,434 99,807
OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET 8. HMIKWARMX  FH
2022 2021
—ZE_-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHET
Gain on waiver of interest on interest et EEEMNE M
bearing borrowings 14,529 -
Gain on waiver of interest on convertible R E S Nl
notes = 167
Gain on waiver of other payables e H M T BRIE B - 196
Interest income FMEMA 57 14
Government grant (note (i) B RE (M EE () 12 397
Non-operating income (note (i) FELLEUWA (BT 72 (i) 5,669 3,025
Donation B/ (369) (163)
Other losses, net HAbEE - F5 = (262)
Other expenses HAnFsz (1) (95)
19,897 3,279
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

8. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET

8. HMW AKX  FEH@)

(Continued)

Note: W&t -

()  During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised () BEZZE-Z_ZF=-A=+—HLEFE &
government grants of approximately Nil (2021: HK$378,000) in £ B 3k 37 8 0 AR 5 = 48 B8 il Bl R SR U
respect of COVID-19 related subsidies, of which is related to Bh# AT (=T ——4F : 378,000/87T) * &
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Government of the THEEEEERITRE TGS (1Rt
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The government grants FrEIARE - BUSEERA 12,0008 (=
of approximately HK$12,000 (2021: HK$19,000) is related to Z—4 19,000 7T) Jh HL A B A b BT 4R
unemployment allowance provided by the Government of the HE k2 E R - ANEE W E fEL AT
Mainland China. The Group fulfilled all conditions attached to the 2 EMEEW S HER AR MU A o
subsidies and recognised as other income.

(i) The non-operating income mainly represents the price difference iy EEEWAEEHRAEEEKTFRINE
of electricity bills and explosive charges received from construction BIEEMEREEE -
teams.

9. FINANCE COSTS Al & R AR
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT

Interest on bonds BEHFFE 501 497

Interest on convertible bonds ATHRREHFLE 5,245 4,528

Interest on borrowings BEEFE 11,571 8,527

Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 1 45

Others Hith = 2

17,318 13,599
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10. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging

10. BRBLADER(B1R)
ARE 2 BBAAF] (BB DENR T

the following:

B IRIR SRR -

2022 2021
- —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHET
Cost of inventories sold EEFERA 91,498 75,028
Auditors’ remuneration (note (i) ZER NS (B3 (i) 1,733 1,379
Amortisation of mining rights related assets ~ SRIEFEIR 78 & A 54
(note (i) (K () 3,774 2,401
Depreciation on property, plant and M BB REHETE
equipment 35,566 33,849
Depreciation on right-of-use assets CREEERE 203 519
Impairment losses on promissory notes LR REEE = 2,000
Short-term lease payments EHEEM®K 576 -
Staff costs including directors’ ETIRF(BRESHH) -
emoluments:
Salaries, wages, allowances and benefitsin ~ #F& + T& « R REY
kind Mz 7,969 7,563
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R 4R & FI5H &I 622 215
Staff costs BITRA 8,591 7,778
Note: Mt -

()  Approximately HK$3,774,000 (2021: HK$2,401,000) are included

in cost of sales.

(i) Approximately HK$183,000 (2021: HK$179,000) was incurred for
the audit of the subsidiaries and approximately HK$350,000 (2021:
Nil) was incurred for the professional fees of right issues.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

1. iM% (ER)

2022 2021
- BT —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHET

Current tax-overseas BIEABTE — g o
Provision for the year NEEZ R 7,577 -

Deferred tax EELHIE

Credited to profit or loss (Note 38) A (H7£38) (666) (549)
Income tax expense/(credit) Frisfimsz (%) 6,911 (549)

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above that amount will be
subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of the group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit Tax rate regime will
continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2021 as the Group did not generate any
assessable profit.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2021: 25%).

Pursuant to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance, B IEAEFEEEA
FEZEDEMSHRBERNALE (transliterated as Announcement on
Continuing the Enterprise Income Tax Policies for the Large-Scale
Development of Western China*), from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2030, the enterprises in the western region, which
engaged in encouraged industries as indicated in the PEEBHbIE S,
BYABE % B $% (20204 A) (transliterated as Catalogue of
Encouraged Industries of Western Region (2020 revised)*) and & %
BT E B 8520194 A) (transliterated as Catalogue of
Industrial Structure Adjustment Guidance (2019 Revised)*) and
which derive 70% of their operating income from the encouraged

industries could apply for a tax incentive.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-F - —#=H=

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) 11
After getting in-charge tax bureau’s approval, those enterprises
could enjoy a reduced EIT rate of 15% from the statutory EIT
rate of 25%.

The Company’s operating subsidiary Taizhou Mining has been
granted a reduced EIT rate of 15% from year 2015 to 2021. For
the year ended 31 March 2022, due to the delay of application
of tax incentive, affected by COVID-19, Taizhou Mining adopted

25% as the tax rate.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense/(credit) and

accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates:

t+—HILFE

CFIBHEX (ER) @)

KEERBIER  ZELEAFEED
EFTEH25% M EZXZEE - BT 15% 51
IS FEPTISHL -

RNAREEH B AR AMEES EH A&
R RAFE_T-—FZR15% 28
BLEMBMRER - 2T -_—_F=A

+ B

BHIEFE - Eiaﬁéﬁ A ﬂiﬂ*%r
B2 MIWEENEBE AN IR 2
FRFH 25% TR 2K o

FrisBifs/ (He) BRERREFE 2
A, (ER) MEZERNAT

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax BBt AT A (E51E) 14,755 (17,116)
Tax at the applicable tax rate in Hong Kong Ti?%*‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%?r%ﬁZﬁﬁ 2,435 (2,824)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PNAMBRAZ 2 BT E 3,291 3,816
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBIMAZ B2 (110) (929)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised TEMERR 2 TIAE1E 2 7%
=7 - 572
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised SR ERER Z HIEE IR 2
previously Bl (1,746) -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries TEE fth BLARE [ 45 8 K 75
operating in other jurisdictions MEB AR TRRE 3% 3,041 (86)
Income tax expense/(credit) Frigsifs (%) 6,911 (549)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 1. EEFMR AR HES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors (@) E=
Details of the remuneration of directors of the Company are RARIEEZHMEFIBFWOT -
as follows:
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIS B N FHEHI 2 383N IEHE 2
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows: EFEEHMWT -
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e FERR BIRER
we EFIz= sHEMER &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
TExT TEx TExT TExT
For the year ended BE-_Z-—%=H
31 March 2022 =t+—HLEFE
Executive directors HITES
Li Dahong TRER 2,820 - 18 2,838
Ma Xiaona BSEM 1,660 - 18 1,678
4,480 - 36 4,516
Independent non-executive B EHITESE :
directors:
Cheung Wai Hung REHE 320 - - 320
Guo Wei 2[3E 320 - - 320
Lam Albert Man Sum WEF 320 - - 320
960 = = 960
5,440 - 36 5,476
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

1. EEF MR AEEESFEE ©)

(a) Directors (Continued) (@ E=(E)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
e - M RIRTEF]
wE REDAZ ET B FEE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000
FHIT FHIT FHIT FHIT
For the year ended BE-ZE=-—%=H
31 March 2021 =t+t—HLEE
Executive directors HITES :
Li Dahong FRE 2,186 - 18 2,204
Ma Xiaona HREg 1,286 - 18 1,304
Wang Hong Yin ARE 166 - 8 174
3,638 - 44 3,682
Independent non-executive B FHITESE :
directors:
Cheung Wai Hung SR1E 272 - - 272
Guo Wei 2 272 - - 272
Lam Albert Man Sum ER 272 - - 272
816 - - 816
4,454 - 44 4,498
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 12. EEF MR TR HEE &)

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid individuals for the year included two
(2021: two) directors whose remuneration are included
above. During the year ended 31 March 2022, there are
three (2021: three) highest paid individuals of the Group
had been included in the following table. The remunerations
of the remaining three (2021: three) individuals were as

follows:

(b) EERSHESR

RAFE A FALTBEERA

R F MBIEE REZM
PEHERNEX - HEZT-__F=H
=T—HLFE TRREXREE=
F(ZE-_—F:ZH&)ERaFAL-
BT=ZZ(ZE-_—F:ZZ)ATZ
MemT :

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefitsinkind ¥ * R R EYWF = 2,248 1,214
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGHEI R 30 45
2,278 1,259
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b)

(©

Five highest paid employees (Continued)
Their remunerations of the remaining individuals were within

the following band:

1. EEF MR AEEESFEE ©)

(b)

TEREHEER (H)
BTALTZHMEENATHE :

Number of individuals

A
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 LB 7T E 1,000,000 7T 2 3
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 87t E 1,500,000 7 7T 1 -
3 3

During the year, no remunerations were paid by the Group
to the directors or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil). No directors of
the Company waived or agreed to waive any remunerations

during the year.

Directors’ Material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other significant transaction, arrangement
and contract in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a part and in which a director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

13. DIVIDEND 13. RE
No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for the BEr T - —FERK-_ETE-_—F=A=1+—
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. HIEFE » ARFW MRS BRRE
LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RNABEZEEAEEEREAL#HEE
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on BIIRATER AEETE
the following:
(a) Basic (@ E&
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
(Restated)
(&&E75)
Loss attributable to the equity holders of ~ AN A Gz A AERERE
the Company (HK$’000) (F#&7T) (137) (17,974)
Weighted average number of ordinary BT R 2 T IaE
shares in issue (in thousands) H:Hx) 1,569,916 1,569,916
Basic loss per share (HK cents) SRR EAETE OBIL) (0.01) (1.14)

(b)

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to

calculate the basic and diluted loss per share for both years

have been adjusted to reflect the rights issue after the

reporting period. Accordingly, the basic and diluted loss per

share for the year ended 31 March 2021 is restated.

Diluted

No diluted loss per share has been presented as there

were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding for
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. The effect of

the conversion of convertible bonds was not included in the

calculation of diluted loss per share as they are anti dilutive
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March

2021.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRZRE

Furniture,
fixtures
Mine Plantand  and office Motor Construction
properties ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Sub-total  in progress Total
G %2
BaNE  BEREE RELRE a1 Nt EEBIR @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000
TAL TAL TAL THL TR TR TAL
Cost HRA
At 31 March 2020 RZEZ2E=A=+-H 898,509 14,873 203 3,012 916,597 48,826 965,423
Additions RE 40,727 - - 861 41,588 57 41,645
Disposals HE - @ - (60) (64) - (64)
Exchange realignment ERRE 77,006 616 9 283 77,864 4,199 82,083
At 31 March 2021 and RZEZ—-F=A=1-A
1 April 2021 RZEZ-ERA-A 1,016,242 15,485 212 4,046 1,085,985 53,082 1,089,067
Additions WE 39,658 - - - 39,658 - 39,658
Exchange differences ERZEE 42,113 32 3 138 42,575 2,197 44,772
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=1-H 1,098,013 15,806 215 4184  1,118218 55279 1,173,497
Accumulated depreciation ~ RHE
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZF=A=+-H 244,861 12,306 203 1,548 258,918 - 258,918
Charge for the year TEETH 32,430 - - 1419 33,849 - 33,849
Written back for disposal HEREE - (4 - (60) (64) - (64)
Exchange realignment ERRE 20,839 547 9 (1,171) 20,224 - 20,224
At 31 March 2021 and RZE--F=A=1-H
1 April 2021 “E--ENA-A 298,130 12,849 212 1,736 312,927 - 312,927
Charge for the year KEEYH 34,925 - - 641 35,566 - 35,566
Exchange realignment ERAR 12,382 214 3 62 12,661 - 12,661
At 31 March 2022 RZE-ZZFE=f=1-H 345,437 13,063 215 2,439 361,154 - 361,154
Carrying amount; REE:
At 31 March 2022 RZE-ZF=f=1-H 752,576 2,743 - 1,745 757,064 55,279 812,343
At 31 March 2021 RZE--F=ZA=+-H 718,112 2,636 - 2,310 723,058 53,082 776,140
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group had appointed an independent
professional valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, to
assess the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and mining rights related assets, in particular of
those employed in the gold mining segment, and no impairment
loss (2021: Nil) was recognised. The recoverable amount has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections
is 11.7% (2021:
extrapolate the cash flows of the Group’s of cash generating

12%) per annual. The growth rate used to

units beyond the five-year period is 0% (2021: 0%) per annual
which based on past performance and its expectations in
relation to market development. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the past performance. The directors
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The movements in right-of-use assets are as follows:

15.

16.

M - BERRE®

BTG
FEASBZEE L EEMEMSRK

AABAERABNAFHARE ZWE
BE MR AR RBEERBEEE 2 A K

TR LHERSRAKEMAE - BY
EHEATARESE( T _—F &)
AEeEEREEERAEEFEET -
FZAREDEAERSREREMILEV K
EEZRESRETEN - fﬁ;é’é/}lb%iﬁ\:ﬂuﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Tﬁiﬁﬂ“ﬁm@ﬁ 7% (ZF=—F : 12%)
RAREE ﬁiﬁﬂfﬁézﬁ’ilfﬁiﬁiiu
ZHREMNEZEREREFN(ZT=—
F:0%) DREBERBLEATSER
ZEHGEL EREEAEZEMTIER
?&5&&1&?@%@%)\//%&(ﬁi‘él’géqyfm
REME)  BRMATEERBERR - &
ERB EAREFRRZEMAEA LR
Pre8YEFRREBEAT RS -

EREEE
EREAEZEBNT

Leased

properties  Factory lands Total

HEWE = At e

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T FABT FAT

Right-of-use assets TREEE

At 1 April 2020 RZZEZZFMA—AR 584 - 584
Charge for the year FEER (519) - (519)
At 31 March 2021 R-ZB-_—F=HA=+—H 65 - 65
Addition wE - 6,906 6,906
Charge for the year FEEH (65) (138) (203)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZEB-_Z_HF=H=+—H - 6,768 6,768
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group leases offices for its operations, which represented
as leased properties. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 2 years. For the lease contracts within 1 year, the Group
recognised as the short-term lease payment under

administrative expenses.

The Group’s leasehold interest in factory lands are situated in
the PRC and held under 50-year term leases. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these leasehold

interests.

The right-of-use assets of factory lands are amortised based on
the lease period. The directors are of the opinion that there was

no indicator of impairment and no impairment loss was needed.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the

lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

16. FFHREEE (©)

AEBEREEBEERLE  RA/EE
M- HESWIREEHP2FETL - 5h1
FUANBEERNME  AEEER/TT
BFsIB T e SEE R -

AEERBERBHEERSGNPE -
W IABOEFH E BEMNFTFA o —IRIERRTY
RABEZRSHEREMBLXA -

BERHEREEERHERMEE - &
ERR BREDRAEFTRERE -

BRHEARENEEEETOERERIN
HEHE T EMEMEMZE HEEE
TERAREERER -

purposes.
2022 2021
—g—— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBENFBERZ
(included in finance costs) (GTARE K A) 1 45

Lease liabilities of approximately Nil (2021: HK$74,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately Nil
(2021: HK$65,000) as at 31 March 2022.
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17. MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS

17. RIEEEBREE

HK$'000
FHT
Cost Jo N
At 1 April 2020 RZZZ_ZTFMA—HA 61,680
Additions NE 4,568
Exchange realignment b H AR 5,306
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZBE-_—F=A=+—BK
—E_—FWA—H 71,554
Additions nE 13,174
Disposal HE (1,279)
Exchange realignment AR 2,960
At 31 March 2022 N-B-__—_F=H=+—H 86,409
Accumulated amortisation E:5g: |
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_ZTFHPA—H 15,102
Provision during the year REEEE 2,401
Exchange realignment D& 5 B 1,284
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZBE-_—F=ZA=+—HK
—T-—FWA—H 18,787
Provision during the year EEERE 3,774
Exchange realignment R 783
At 31 March 2022 N-EBE-__—_F=H=+—H 23,344
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 March 2022 N-EBE-_—_F=H=+—H 63,065
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-_—=A=+—H 52,767
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17. MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group had appointed an independent
professional valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, to
assess the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and mining rights related assets, in particular of
those employed in the gold mining segment, and no impairment
loss (2021: Nil) was recognised. The recoverable amount has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections
is 11.7% (2021: 12%) per annual. The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the group of cash-generating units
beyond the five-year period is 0% (2021: 0%) per annual which
based on past performance and its expectations in relation to
market development. Other key assumptions for the value-in-
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted revenue and gross margin, such
estimation is based on the past performance. The directors
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to

exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

Mining rights related assets represent the cost of exploration

permits and mining rights permits.

The Group’s exploration permit and mining right permit with no. of
T6100002008054010006667 and C6100002014084120135479
were renewed on 9 October 2020 and 17 November 2020 for a
period of two years and seventeen months, respectively and are
expired on 9 October 2022 and 17 April 2022, respectively.

From the year of 2019-2022, the Group was in the progress of
application of transfer between exploration permit and mining right
permit. Based on the approval of related materials and explored
reserves, the Group obtained the new mining right permit with no.
of C6100002014084120135479 on 14 June 2022, with a period
from 14 June 2022 to 14 June 2025.
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18. i B A R RS

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Unlisted shares, at cost JELEMRRG - R ANE 10 10
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUR B B A R FIA 121,658 121,105
121,668 121,115

Notes: Btet -
(@)  Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are @ RZZEZZF=ZA=+—HBXREMNBER

follows: B2 FFEIT ¢
Place and date of Percentage of equity
incorporation/establishment/  Issued and fully paid up interest attributable Principal activities
Company name Type of Company capital/registered capital to the Company and place of operations
TMAL KL ER BRETRBRRE
AEER B/ ARER HAMER ANFEERERIE FEEBRCELY
Direct % Indirect %
BEE% B %
SSC Mandarin Mining British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 - Investment holding in Hong
Investment Limited 2 October 2007 Kong
Limited liability Company
XENHEEREERAA EERUHE 1R R HRR EEBRERR
“ZTHETAZH
BEREFATF
T G Mining Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 - 100 Investment holding in Hong
9 November 2005 Kong
Limited liability Company
EEBETMNERAA BE 2,000,000 7T ERRRERR
“EZRET—ANAB
BREARTA
SSC Sino Gold Mining PRC Registered and paid-up - 90  Investment holding in the
Investment Company Limited 5 February 2004 capital of US$7,000,000 PRC
Sino foreign equity joint venture
XERe(tR)EEREREE HE 7,000,000 E i MAAR EFERERR
BRAF —ZTWNF-ARA RBRRA
mINGERE
Tongguan Taizhou Mining PRC Registered and paid-up - 72 Exploration, mining and
Company Limited 29 June 2004 capital RMB10,000,000 mineral processing
(“Taizhou Mining”) Domestic Company in the PRC
BRBANBEEEREERR  HE AR 10,000,000 e EFERE - REREDM
(TKME%D) ZEINERAZTAA BRRERBA I
BN
T G Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 - Investment holding in Hong
30 August 2018 Kong
Limited liability Company
ESEAERAT BE 10,000 57T ERRRERR

None of restricted assets held by the subsidiaries.

“E-N\FN\A=TH
EREARA
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18. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. B~ Bl = ()
Notes (Continued): Bat (%)
(o)  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free (b)) EKRKBARRBAEIKT 2B RAR
and repayable on demand. EREE o

The following table shows information on a subsidiary Taizhou
Mining that have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the

Group. The summarised financial information represents financial

TRIVRFT A IREBE s ([ FRE R )
MEREEBEAZ M E LR KIMEE -
BB % ERHE R B A R A EHE 8 AT AM

information of Taizhou Mining before inter-company eliminations. EEZBER -
Name Taizhou Mining
£ AN 3
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK’000
FHERT FHET
Principal place of business/country of FEEEME K BIR PRC PRC
establishment == =8
% of ownership interests/voting rights FERESZRIEEZRERE
hold by NCI i REEEIL
At 31 March: R=ZA=+—8: 28% 28%
Non-current assets FEREEE 882,176 828,899
Current assets mEEE 39,037 37,355
Current liabilities nEBEE (143,092) (143,100)
Non-current liabilities EmEBBIE (641,712) (619,749)
Net assets FEE 136,409 103,405
Accumulated NCI RETIFE S 31,351 23,322
Year ended 31 March: BE=ZA=+—HLFE:
Revenue Yees 128,434 99,807
Profit Vi ) 28,678 5,067
Profit allocated to NCI DELEIFERAE R 2 8 F 8,029 1,419
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19. INVENTORIES 19. B&
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FHET
Raw material R4k 209 78
Work in progress & m 4,064 2,254
Finished goods BIRK 1,281 4,686
5,554 7,018

The carrying amount of inventories at the end of reporting period

that were carried at cost amounted to approximately

HK$5,554,000 (2021: HK$7,018,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in

‘cost of sales’ during the year amounted to approximately

HK$81,813,000 (2021: HK$75,028,000).

20. PROMISSORY NOTES

7,018,000 7T) °

75,028,000 7T) °

20. R A RE

2022
—s-=

HK$°000

FET

RBEBR XA EZFENREE
B #15554,00008 T( — =

= — -

FR - FERTERBFRZILET A [HEX
K] 4 4581,8130008 (=& = —F:

2021

HK$’000
TAT

Promissory notes

LRI -
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20. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)

21.

Given the Company’s needs for financing, the concerns in
engaging alternative service provider for the same work, and on-
going opportunities under the Consultancy Agreement, at the
request of the Issuer, the Board had decided to extend the due

date of the said promissory notes to 1 April 2022.

The Group measures loss allowances for promissory notes at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. Given the repayment of the
promissory notes had been further extended by the Issuer which
indicating that the promissory noted are credit impaired. An
impairment loss of Nil (2021: HK$2,000,000) was recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

20. AR EE @)

ERARANBERTE  TREMRBEH
ERFRAR TIEMEFENEE RERH
ZETHETENKRSE  BETAZX
EECATEREMAREZRZIHAE
—E-_FWA—-H-

AEEBZRBASER2HEHREEBFENSS
HEAREBNEREE ERNARLER
MERARETAE—FER(KRAEALE
BELBREERE) BE-_T-__F=H
S+ -HLEFEERAREEEZ(ZZ
——% :2,000,000%7T) °

TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. ES ERERIE

2022 2021
—E2-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#&x FHIT
Trade receivables H 5 EWRIE 15,697 11,345
The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice B EWRELNBEER  BIEZEER

date, and net of allowance, is as follows: HIZ 5 2 BRE D ATEAT -
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHIT
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 11,179 11,345
91 to 180 days 912180 H 3,901 -
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 617 -
15,697 11,345
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21

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to

measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected

credit loss allowance for all trade receivables. Individual credit

evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over

a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s

past history of making payments when due and current ability to

pay, and take into account information specific to the customer

pay, and the customer operates. The credit terms generally

range from 30 to 180 days. Each customer has a maximum

credit limit. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the

directors.

No impairment loss on the trade receivables was recognised for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

As at 31 March 2022, the trade receivables of approximately
HK$10,697,000 (2021: HK$11,345,000) were pledged to secure

the Group’s borrowings (note 26).

.BEZEWERIE (&)

NEBERBE BV HREEAE ISR
WL R ATERHEEREE  ZAH A5
FrERKE SERFER2BHREERERE
B -TAERKHBBE—TEEEECRRP
HEEZBIEETHE HETHEEL
T’\ﬁiﬂ&ﬁ" FERNERCERERH
ﬂ WEREFPERNESEBH
o EEH N FI0E180KT
%%}Ei@ SEREEERE - @ A4
PRAESTEHELEM -

&,
=5

BHE-_ZT-_—_F#=A=+t—HILFE "
B 5 FE N BRIBRE R E S 18
FE) .

3

— ==

=

R-EBE-_—_F=A=+—HB ZEFENKE
18 #910,697,000% T( = T = — &
11,345,000 7T ) A A AR £ B R ERIE
A (H3E26) o

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22. %  AAREREMEWIRE
RECEIVABLES
An analysis of deposits, prepayments and other receivables are e FENFEREMEWRRES TN T
as follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-_—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Deposits e 1,619 210
Prepayments TR RIA 10,482 7,645
Other receivables HAh EUARIE 6,688 8,395
18,789 16,250
Less: provision of impairment of other W B ERIE R B
receivables (2,438) (2,438)
16,351 13,812
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DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22. % ENRERHEMEWIRE
RECEIVABLES (continued) (%)
The fair values of deposits, prepayments and other receivables B4 - FBENZBELEMEWER Y AFE
approximate their carrying amounts. HEREERS
The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows: TEH=EESEEE 2 ZEmT
2022 2021
—EC-_fF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
At the beginning of the year REA) 2,438 2,438
Provision for impairment of other receivables £ ftf1 JiE U BR 78 5l (B % = -
At the end of the year RER 2,438 2,438

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no impairment loss
under lifetime ECL had been provided to other receivables
(2021: Nil).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 March 2022, approximately HK$3,700,000 (2021:
HK$5,751,000) of the Group’s cash and bank balances were
denominated in RMB which is subject to exchange control
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC. Included
that, approximately HK$617,000 (2021: Nil) were short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

However, under the PRC’s foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulation, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to

conduct foreign business.
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24.
Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining leases payments, discounted at the Group’s

incremental borrowing rate, and the aggregate effect is as

t+—HILFE

HE&E
HEABRINSEENRZRELALRE
B EERAERTRETHE - B
2T

follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHBT T
At 1 April RMWA—H 74 629
Lease payments made during the year FAZN 2 BERNK (75) (600)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1 45
At 31 March RZA=+—H - 74
Represented by: Xy
Amount classified under current liabilities REBEE N EzeR - 74
Amount classified under non-current FEMBEEBETIDE S8
liabilities - —
At 31 March W=ZA=+—H - 74

The directors considered the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate to be appropriate in view of the market environment and
economic conditions under which each remaining lease
operates. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities is Nil (2021: 12.87%).
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. ENEZRRREMEMIRE
2022 2021
—s-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Current portion ENHEAER 2
Advance from customers BFER 7 4
Trade payables FETE SR 47,581 65,820
Accruals [EETER 15,862 9,970
Other payables HAthfETARIR 18,098 17,559
Salary and benefits payables B E € REF 10,123 9,928
91,671 103,281
Non-current portion JERNEAER
Other payables H AR ARIA 35,913 1,328
127,584 104,609
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of HEREHKR  ENEHREFURHFTBA
trade payables based on the demand note date, is as follows: EHHZ7MRRSTAT ¢
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHET
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 11,252 10,267
91 to 180 days 91&180H 3,610 15,799
181 to 365 days 1812365 H = 22,452
Over 365 days 365 A A = 32,719 17,302
47,581 65,820
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26. BORROWINGS 26. 8 &
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHETT
The Group’s borrowings were repayable as  NEEBEENESW T
follows:
Amount due within one year included in HAREBBEETR —FRE
current liabilities 82 3kI8 13,134 300
Amount due after one year included in PAERBBEE TR —F1%
non-current liabilities F|E 2 FRIE 388,758 408,492
401,892 408,792
The maturing analysis of borrowings is as follows: BEINBMERSTNT
2022 2021
—ZE_-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHx FHETT
With one year —FUAN 13,134 300
More than one year, but not exceeding two ~ —F LA BN IBFHF
years 388,758 408,492
401,892 408,792

During the years ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s interest-
bearing borrowings approximately of HK$256,181,000 (2021:
HK$221,726,000) are arranged at interest rates ranging 4.35%
to 12% (2021: 4.35% to 20%).

The Group’s interest- bearing borrowings approximately of
HK$11,735,000 (2021: HK$8,190,000) were secured by the
Group’s rights of collection from its customers. During the year
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group entered into a
security arrangement and transferred the rights of collection of
the Group’s trade receivables to a financer under which all the
significant risks and rewards relating to these receivables had
been passed to the financer.

The above borrowings are carried at amortised cost and the
carrying amounts of borrowings approximate to their fair value.
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27. BONDS

On 30 April 2008, the Company issued convertible bonds with
an aggregate value of HK$806,400,000 (the “2008 CB") with
maturity date of 30 April 2013 for partial settlement of the
consideration for the acquisition of SSC Mandarin Mining
Investment Limited and its subsidiaries. Upon the maturity of the
2008 CB on 30 April 20183, the 2008 CB became bonds and
payable on demand. The outstanding bonds is charged at 5%
per annum. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Company has repaid parts of bonds, approximately
HK$6,267,000.

Movements of the bonds are set out below:

27. Fz’#

R-ZZNFUA=1TH  ARAHTHE
{E.806,400,000 8 7L 2 Al EH ([ ZFZF
/\ﬁﬂ%ﬁ’ﬁﬂﬁﬁb (R—T—=FWA=1+
BEIH)  AENKBXERRRERKRER
RA ﬂ&ﬁf%ﬂ%/ AlZEHIRE R=F
—=FMA=tHE T N\FABRES
FHR —EENFUBRRESKBES
WARBERNR - mREEZEFEEF
R5%WE BE_ZT_—F=HA=+—H
LEFE RARAEHENID EFH
6,267,000 % 7T, ©

Bz EBHEHIMT

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

total total

et st

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

At 1 April REA—H 13,337 19,107
Interest charged B 501 497
Repayment B - (6,267)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 13,838 13,337

The fair value of the bonds at 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$13,838,000 (2021: HK$13,337,000).
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PROMISSORY NOTES

28.

AHEE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET BT

Promissory notes HHER

As disclosed in note 40(i), a legal dispute in relation to the
promissory notes has been resolved during the year ended 31
March 2022.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 10 April 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds
(“CBs”) with face value of HK$30,095,000 to independent third
parties. Holders of the CBs will have the right to convert the
CBs, on whole or in part (in multiples of HK$150,000), of the
principal amount of the CBs into the Conversion Shares at the
Conversion Price of HK$0.3 for the period commencing from the
date of the issue of the CBs up to the close of business on the
day falling 14 days prior to the 16 July 2022.

The CBs bear interest of 4% per annual and payable in arrears
quarterly on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31

December in each year.
Upon the issuance, the value of the CBs has been split into the

liability element and an equity component of HK$15,073,000
and HK$15,022,000 respectively.
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The movement of the liability and equity components of the

convertible bonds for the year is set out below:

20. R ESH &)

AgRESFZABERERBOIRAFELZ
EFFIMT

Liability Equity
component component Total
BERD EEBD st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THETT THETT THTT
At 1 April 2020 RZZE_ZTFWMA—H 21,396 12,543 33,939
Effective interest expenses B EMX 4,528 - 4,528
Payment of interest FLEAT K (1,207) - (1,207)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April R-ZE-_—FMA—H
2021 24,7117 12,543 37,260
Effective interest expenses EERFERY 5,245 = 5,245
Payment of interest FLEAT K (1,208) - (1,208)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZZE-—F=H
=+—H 28,754 12,543 41,297

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an PAREFWER ZHMB TR E A BRRESEZ

effective interest rate of 21.58% to the liability component of the

CBs.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, none of the

CBs were redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 29.

In August 2018, a claim made against the Company in relation
to the CBs had been filed to High Court and had been resolved
on 24 May 2022 that the Company had redeemed the CBs in
full. Details of which are set out in note 40Q(ii) to the consolidated

financial statements.

As a result of a certain litigation made against the Company,
subject to the court ruling, the CBs could become payable on
demand and was classified as current liabilities as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

ARRES®)

RZZT—N\FNA " SHEEAARA@AE
BiEHF2RECRAREERRER  WER
ZEZFRAZTEARA BIAQFT
ERBER A RRES - AREFEHNER
& BB R I 5 40(i) ©

BN AR REERE TR - BREBERHR
AMEEFATIRERNR IR —F -
FRZBZ-F=ZA=+—HOERRY
BfE-

SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
REE k2] BRHEE k-]
HK$°000 HK$’'000
TET FHET
Authorised (HK$0.06 each):  J&F (FREE0.06587T) -
At 1 April REA—H 2,666,666,666 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,666,666,666 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000
Issued and fully paid BREITRAR (FREE
(HK$0.06 each): 0.0687T) :
At 1 April RUA—H 1,496,782,160 89,807 1,496,782,160 89,807
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,496,782,160 89,807 1,496,782,160 89,807
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31. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 3. EERF

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a
defined contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% (2021: 5%) of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. Both the
Group’s and the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap
of HK$1,500 (2021: HK$1,500) per month and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently-
administered fund. The Group’s contributions vest fully with the

employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations in the PRC, the employees in the
PRC are required to join the pension fund (ZZ R &%) which
is a defined contribution scheme operated by the local
government for the benefit of retired employees. The Group is
required to make monthly contributions to the scheme at a
specified rate of the employee payroll to fund the retirement

benefits of the employees.
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other obligations to

make payments in respect of retirement benefits of the

employees.

153

EREH TR E
REEBDRHEEBEBEE MABSIMERTE
e EI((RESE))  FHEtEA—E
BBEUXTAETE 2 ERBERGTE - RIB
wESE AEERHEBAREASH
IR 1% 58 1 N T8 & R BI Pr 5RE 1R 1B B IRA
Z5% (=T Z—1%F :5%) & AmZat &4t
R AEERHEREF AR ERHA
1,500 L (ZE = —%F : 1,500 L) * M
HiBZ IR ZHERTBEEEE - #ES
HEIZEEN—EBUEBRECHASE
CEEDRIFEE  c ARBZHEFRNAEE
S EETRHEREEME -

RETEEBER  TREZEEAMAR
ERBES FHEES A - EHABHWBM
RRNEE ZEMM R EREKEE -
AEBEAZERH M2 E L AR A RZ
SRR ARRERBEZRIRENREES -

B EXCREEIN - AR EBELEERIK
&Mz WM AAEEREMEE -



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021/2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

32. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

32. f#E

(a)

REE

AEBRFRBHCHEARRAFEERBE

FEZEBFBIINE 68 K69 B 247
&=

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 68 SREFFEIRANZY -
and 69.
The Company (b) AT
Convertible
Share bonds Share option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
EE:d0 BRE
R EE BHRE i RiER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TR TET THT
As at 1 April 2020 RZZE-FTFELA—H 1,842,983 12,543 - (1,910,068) (54,542)
Loss for the year FEBE - - - (21,375) (21,375)
As at 31 March 2021 WZEZ—F=A=+—H 1,842,983 12,543 - (1,931,443 (75,917)
Loss for the year FEER - - - (20,209) (20,209)
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=1—H 1,842,983 12,543 - (1,951,652) (96,126)

(i) Share premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of

the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available

for distribution to shareholders subject to the

provisions of the articles of association of the

Company and no distribution may be paid to

shareholders out of the share premium unless,

immediately following the date on which distribution or

dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company shall

be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.
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32. RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(p) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represents the value of
the unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds in note 4())(ii)) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees and other participants
other than employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 4(s) to
the consolidated financial statements.

33. LEASE COMMITMENTS
The short-term lease for the offices which are regularly entered
into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022. As at
31 March 2022, the outstanding lease commitments is as

32. e (@)

(b) AAF(HE)
(i) SMERE A
SN BREREMBRERI
X MBRRMEEZELE
B RMEBIREBEEMBHRE
B R 4(0) PR Z B RTBUR R IE

(i) ERREFFE
ﬂ@%%%ﬁﬁhﬁﬁ?éﬁ%
SRR BT 5 4()(il) L AT R AR (E 5 R 4

@#ﬁ“%%%'m$AT%
T2 ARBRESRRITEERS
MmzEE -

(iv) FERERE
B ERBIEREBE S M EmE
Merae) AR EEE ARSNGB
BTN S 5T IR 1
REOAEERE REBUINNE
fib 2 ELE B H 0 B S5 RAT
IR AR B E B AT o

33. HEHIE

@ifg::iiﬂi+—5¢¢§'$
FHRB AT EEHHELY - B =
::i A=+—H XEEHE %?W

follows: T
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 390 350
In the second to fifth year, inclusive FCEERF (BREEEWSF) 54 250
444 600
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. BEERER

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include
promissory notes receivable, bank balances and cash, bonds,
promissory notes payable, borrowings, trade and other
receivables as well as trade and other payables. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

(@) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are
principally denominated in HK$ and RMB. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The Group adopted a conservative treasury
policy with most of the bank deposits being kept in HK$ or
RMB, or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries

to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The Group has certain investments and operations in the
PRC, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net
assets of the Group’s operations in the PRC is managed

primarily through operating liabilities denominated in RMB.

To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s foreign
currency exchange risks. However, the management
continues to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
regularly and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

A reasonably possible increase of 5% in exchange rates
between RMB and HK$ respectively, with all other variables
held constant, will lead to an decrease/increase of
approximately HK$3,463,000 of the Group’s loss/profit
before tax (2021: HK$2,770,000) mainly arising from that
the Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are

principally denominated in HK$ or Renminbi (“RMB”).

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily
from its borrowings and bank deposits. Borrowings at fixed

rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The management monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis points) in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group’s loss/profit before tax by
approximately HK$2,646,000 (2021: HK$2,190,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the reporting date and had been applied to the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date. A 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease in interest rates represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for 2021.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and
other receivables and promissory notes) and from its
financing activities, including deposits with banks and
financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and
other financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers to

have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which

would expose the Group to credit risk.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables,
promissory notes and bank balances included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the

Group’s financial assets.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has policy in
place to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk
grading to categories exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The Group uses publicly available financial
Information and own historical repayment records to rate
its major debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
rating of its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread

amongst approved counterparties.

158

34. I RERERE#)

(c)

EERRK
EERBITEAHFFEEIBETEMT
Ay EFPANBETEEMSI B BIE
KOER - AEBRELE TS (FE
AR ® K H i FE U AR IE A B R ) &
REREEH (BERITREMERE
- ﬁlﬁx%&ﬁﬂmu B A )

REERR - AR ZHF ABEKE(E
,\%Z&&%% FTEFRAEAEBEM
REEERBERIE 2 RITR S RE -
WASBEMAXABRS RIS EEE

BelBzEERBRBER -

AEEY EREFERTMWAEERAKE
M $H= B R H B TS HE AR o

FPARA MBI RNRE R H A&
WHRIE - AR R RRITHEBRZIRE
BERRAKERANEENEREEM
EENREEERR

REEREEERR - ZIK’%EEEEE
BRAGIE R A EENEER

FT AR - L‘A*ETFEZ\’\]EH‘ER&EH#EL&EL
IofE - AKBEFEA AR AT
BRI kB ENBEEFGEUTHE

TEEHA - AREZEREEYHF
TRZEEFRZFHEERE  MEKX

SRBREENHREBREEFIF -



REESERBRAA
—E-— BT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade and other receivables, the directors make
periodic collectively assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. No ECL on trade and other receivables (2021:
Nil) was recognised under lifetime ECL model during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group measures loss allowances for promissory notes
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different debtors, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further

distinguished between the Group’s different debtors.

An impairment loss of Nil on the promissory notes (2021:
HK$2,000,000) was recognised under ECL model during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

Liquidity risk

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management
reviews and monitors the Group’s working capital

requirements regularly.

The following table sets out the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at
the reporting date, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
the prevailing rates at the reporting date) and the earliest

date the Group can be required to pay.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)
Specifically, for convertible bonds which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at
the holder’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which the entity can
be required to pay, that is if the holder was to invoke their
unconditional rights to call the outstanding balance of

convertible bonds with immediate effect.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities

34. MKEARER &)

(@

REBESRE(EF)

HBEMS  HRTHEREREEMRNR
(B AEAZRBIBITE) 2K
B RSB RREZER T
ERMNRZ HZFHR (A AELIH
RN BB B 5T AR E S 2R
BIRAERE) SHZRERE -

AEECRABERAOARTRAES
MEEH

based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is as MEEH ZREBESWWT -
follows:
2022 2021
B CE —Eo-F
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted  one year or After Camying  undiscounted ~ one year or After
amount cashflow  ondemand one year amount cashfiow  ondemand One year
SRAFR — R, LR —FR,
FEE REREAE RER - BHE RERELE BER i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TR TiEn Tin FiEn
Tradeand other payables R EZEZ R
RER 127,584 127,584 91,67 35,913 104,609 104,609 103,281 1,328
Borrowings B8 401,892 424,745 13,467 411,278 408,792 416,202 300 415,902
Bonds &% 13,838 13,838 13,838 = 13,337 13,337 13,337 -
Convertiole bonds kG 28,754 28,754 28,754 - 24,717 2717 24717 -
Lease liabilties HEEE - - - - 74 19 119 -
572,068 594,921 147,730 447,191 561,529 568,984 141,754 417,230
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of

34. BT E B E I (&)
(d) REBESES(E)
THREBMTEEREREBREBER 2 TR
I (& H IR &1 TE < F BB L BEE
EHBEBHBE ST - ZERBREEA
BHMNEFE 2 FEFHIE - Bt - Z
LREHIRN EXB AT [1ZE
k| REPBRARBINIR TR 2 £ 78 o

convertible bonds with a repayment on demand clause
based on agreed scheduled repayments. The amounts
include interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a result, these amounts are greater than the
amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the

maturity analysis above.

At 31 March 2022 At 31 March 2021
RZB=Zf=f=1-A RZT--#=R=+-R
Between1to  Between2to Between 1to  Between 2to
Within 1 year 2 years 5 years Total  Within 1 year 2 years 5years Total
—R -EZf ZELE a5t —£R —E°F ZERf )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§'000
Ti#n TiEn TiEn TiEn T TR TR T
Convertible bonds R ES 30,447 - - 30,447 1,204 30,447 - 31,651

As disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has allegedly breached a
condition thereto the subscription of the convertible bonds
as a result of certain litigation made against the Company,
the outstanding balance of the convertible bonds became

repayable on demand as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

On 24 May 2022, the Company had redeemed the

convertible bonds in full (note 29).
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e)

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends,
issue new shares, sell assets as well as issue new debts or

redeem existing debts.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of cost and risk associated with

the capital and changes in economic conditions.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange, it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the Shares, The Group has maintained a sufficient public
float to comply with GEM Listing Rules from the date of the
Listing. As of 31 March 2022, approximately 63.50% of the

Shares were in public hands.

Fair value
The Carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement

of financial position approximately their respective fair value.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3B.HAEALIRS
In addition to the directors listed in note 12 to the consolidated BRARA B ERERM T 12FT0 2 ZEHH A
financial statements, the Group also identifies below related EF R Ty EE AT
parties:
Name Relationship Z18 220
Ma Qianzhou Substantial shareholder of Taizhou Mining B AMNEXNEERR
Director of Taizhou Mining RAMNEXES
Zhao Yuebing Director of Taizhou Mining FH 1 7K RNMNEXESE
Spouse of Ma Qianzhou S Eolint =
Zhou Yong Shareholder of Grand T G Gold ISES] KEEEHME
General manager of Taizhou Mining RN S B A5 12
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial MBS RREMIBO AR EESI  HEEE
statements, the following transactions were carried out with ATEITATRS -
related parties:
(a) Key management compensation (a) FTEEEAESMSE
Key management includes directors (executive and non- TEEEAEBRENITE SR LIEHIT
executive), members of the Executive Committee, the EE HITZEeRENRATME -
Company Secretary. The compensation paid or payable to NEERBMETHENEZEZEREA
key management for employee services is shown below: EZMeHEY W -
2022 2021
—_E_— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Salaries and other short-term employee & M E 52 HifE B2 F|
benefits 6,594 5,376
Other long-term benefits Hth = EAE 7 72 77
Total HEt 6,666 5,453
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

35. BEALTRF 2

(b) Loans from related parties (b) BEALTER
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
At 1 April REA—H 342,232 278,229
Currency realignment PE AR 2 17,827 22,592
Additions during the year F NG N 56,195 50,755
Repayment during the year FRER (52,509) (9,344)
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 363,745 342,232

The above loans for the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2021 from Ms. Zhao Yuebing, Mr. Ma Qianzhou, Mr. Zhou

Yong and Mr. Li Dahong were included in borrowings.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

35. BEALTRF 2

(b) Loans from related parties (Continued) b) BEATERE)
The loans from related parties have the following terms and A AT EREIER RGEEmT -
conditions:
Atend At beginning Interest
of year of year rate
Name =18 FR F5 F=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
2022 —E-—F
Zhao Yuebing K 169,110 145,240 0%-5%
Ma Qianzhou HEciM 108,456 121,065 0%-4.35%
Zhou Yong BB 85,079 74,827 0%-4.35%
Li Dahong TRR 1,100 1,100 5%
2021 —T-—F
Zhao Yuebing K 145,240 95,256 0%-5%
Ma Qianzhou HEM 121,065 105,469 0%-4.35%
Zhou Yong BE 74,827 77,504 0%-4.35%
Li Dahong =Y NN 1,100 - 5%
Amounts due to related parties (c) ENEBEALFRE
2022 2021
ot ~Selng - —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Ma Qianzhou S 932 902
The above amounts are interest free, unsecured and MRIBRRE  BERITNEKE
repayable on demand. They are included in trade and other f%ii@ HEREMNE SRR EH M ER
payables. FRIBARR °
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36. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 36. HEHEATHNEMEERERME

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY EME
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET

Financial Assets — amortised cost SRIEE— RBHEAE

Trade receivables 2 S REWARIE 15,679 11,345
Deposits and other receivables e M AEMEWEIRIA 5,869 6,167
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEBIEE 4,444 5,916
25,992 23,428

Financial Liabilities — amortised cost cRaE— REBHEREX

Trade and other payables FERE 2 8RSk R A FE T BRTH 127,584 104,609
Bonds BEH 13,838 13,337
Convertible bonds AR ES 28,754 24,717
Borrowings =P 401,892 408,792

572,068 551,455
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. AR R B IEAR R |
THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
et FE&T THEIT
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries (N EPNEIL Fas 18 121,668 121,115
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE = 65
121,668 121,180
Current Assets REEE
Promissory notes HH BB = -
Deposits, prepayments and other e FENRIBEREME
receivables I 2,021 551
Cash and cash equivalents ReNMREEMEIAE 744 8
2,765 559
Current Liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R B A FE T AR IA 24,620 18,729
Promissory notes EHER = -
Bonds &5 13,838 13,337
Convertible bonds Al E S 28,754 24,717
Borrowings BE 5,655 300
Lease liabilities HESBE - 74
72,867 57,157
Net current liabilities REEEFHE (70,102) (56,598)
Total assets less current liabilites #EERATHES 51,566 64,582
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. AR RB AR T (2)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Htat FET THEIT
Non-current Liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEAE 221 887
Borrowings BE 57,664 49,805
57,885 50,692
Net (liabilities)/assets F(BE)BE (6,319) 13,890
Capital and Reserves ERRHEE
Share capital [N 89,807 89,807
Reserves ] 32(b) (96,126) (75,917)
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (BAREH4) B (6,319) 13,890
On behalf of the board of directors on 30 June 2022: NR-TEZ—FRA=tHRREEZS :
Li Dahong Ma Xiaona
E N =33
Director Director
BF EF
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The balance comprise temporary difference attributable to:

38. EXEFHEE B
G FE LA TR TR R A 2 E R 4T

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Convertible Bonds ARRES 221 887
Movement: sE

At 1 April RIUA—H 887 1,436

Credited to profit or loss (note 71) T ABE= (fat11) (666) (549)

At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 221 887

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately Nil (2021: HK$6,762,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of these losses due to the unpredictability

of future profit streams.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table set forth below is the detail changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.
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39. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(@)

e MR RMTE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZ—-—ZE - —#=H=+4—HIFFE

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

30. mEREREXRMT &)

() MEFBFELERBNYIR(E)

Waive of
1 April Cash Interest interest Exchange 31 March
2021 flows charges charges  realignment 2022
—E--F HeFE St 2
mA-A BefE FEXH il Ei®® =B=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAR B B FHR B
Bonds (note 27) &5 (Ha2r) 13,337 = 501 = = 13,838
Borrowings (note 26) BB (Hz26) 408,792 (18,632) 11,571 (14,529) 14,690 401,892
Convertible bonds (note 29) Bl B (Hf5#29) 24,7117 (1,208) 5,245 = = 28,754
Lease liabilties (note 24) ~ HEBE (H724) 74 (75) 1 = - -
446,920 (19,915) 17,318 (14,529) 14,690 444,484
1 April Cash Interest Exchange 31 March
2020 flows charges  realignment 2021
—E-F —E-—F
MA—B HeRg FExH EX#EE ZA=t+—H
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$’000
FHET TET FET FHET FET
Bonds (note 27) &% (Hato7) 19,107 (6,267) 497 - 13,337
Borrowings (note 26) FHEEE (Hit2e) 365,172 3,353 8,527 31,740 408,792
Convertble bonds (note 29) A& E% (A1t 29) 21,396 (1,207) 4,528 - 24,717
Lease liabilities (note 24) MEREHE24) 629 (600) 45 - 4
Promissory notes (note 28) & X 1% (17 28) 12,500 (12,500) - - -
418,804 (17,221) 13,597 31,740 446,920
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39. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases

comprises the following:

30. mEREREXRMT &)

(b)

HERSRHARE

AAREREXRZEESBEREAT

I :

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within operating cash flows KERMBMEA 1 45
Within financing cash flows MERSREN 75 555
76 600
These amounts relate to the following: ZESFEETYBE AR
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F& T T
Lease rental paid BENHEERS 76 600
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40. LITIGATION
As at 31 March 2022, the Company is involved in the following

litigation proceedings:

(i

HCA 397 of 2011 (the “HCA 397 Action”)

The HCA 397 Action was issued by Charm Master
Enterprises Limited (“Charm Master”) against the Company
for payments allegedly due to the former under (1) a
Promissory Note D issued by the Company dated 29
January 2010 for a sum of HK$7,500,000 due and payable
on 30 April 2010; and (2) a Promissory Note E issued by
the Company dated 1 June 2010 for a sum of
HK$5,000,000 due and payable on 20 June 2010. The
Company’s opposed the claim on the basis that the
condition precedents for payment of such sums of money
had not been satisfied, such that it is not liable to pay

Charm Master.

J. Thomson Asset Investment Ltd (“J. Thomson”) was
subsequently joined as a 2nd Defendant to the HCA 397
Action. J Thomson claimed that it is in fact entitled to the
sums of money due and payable under Promissory Notes
D and E to the extent of HK$12,000,000 by virtue of an
alleged arrangement it entered into with Charm Master on
or around 29 April 2008. Accordingly, it counterclaimed the
sum of HK$12,000,000 against both Charm Master and
the Company.

J. Thomson subsequently applied for summary judgment
against the Company, or alternatively, an interim payment
in the sum of HK$12,000,000 into Court. By the Order of
Deputy High Court Judge Raymond Leung SC on 12
November 2020, the Company was ordered to make
payment of HK$12,000,000 into Court as condition to
defend the counterclaim of J. Thomson. The said payment

was made on 14 January 2021.
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40. LITIGATION (Continued)

U

(ii)

HCA 397 of 2011 (the “HCA 397 Action”) (Continued)

By the Order of Deputy High Court Judge Raymond Leung
SC on 26 February 2021, the Company was allowed to
interplead for the total sum of money payable under
Promissory Notes D and E, and thereupon be excused
from any future proceedings in the HCA 397 Action until
the determination of issues of interest and cost as between
the parties, which shall take place after trial. The Company
duly paid the remaining HK$500,000 into Court on 22
March 2021. The HCA 397 Action has since proceeded as
between Charm Master and J. Thomson without the
participation of the Company.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
abovesaid issue was already reflected in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2022,
pursuant to note 28 to the consolidated financial

statements.

HCA 1885 of 2018 (the “HCA 1885 Action”)

The HCA 1885 Action was commenced by Leung Heung
Ying (“Leung”) against the Company to seek payment
under a series of convertible bonds dated 17 July 2017
which is due for payment on 16 July 2022 totalling
HK$30,095,357.00 and the interest accrued thereon. The
Company has opposed Leung’s claim on the basis that the
payment was not yet due. Leung has applied for summary
judgment against the Company. The application has been

adjourned and no hearing has yet been fixed.

On 24 May 2022, the Company had redeemed the
convertible bonds in full and that the Company and Leung
had made a joint application to the High Court for a
consent order to discontinue HCA 1885 Action and the
High Court had sealed a consent order to effect the

discontinuation of HCA 1885 Action no order as to costs.
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40. LITIGATION (Continued)

41.

(i) HCMP 1869 of 2020 (the “HCMP 1869 Action”)

The HCMP 1869 Action was commenced by the Company
against the Company’s previous legal representatives, D.S.
Cheung & Co. by way of Originating Summons on 27
October 2020. The Company sought an order that the nine
invoices delivered to the Company in the HCA 397 Action,
HCMP 1398/2018 and HCA 1885/2018 actions (“the
Invoices”), be taxed pursuant to Section 67 of the Legal
Practitioners Ordinance. Pursuant to the Order of Master
Lai of 1 June 2021, the Invoices have been referred to
taxation and the Company has been ordered to pay
HK$570,000 as security for the taxation by 22 June 2021.
The Company discussed with the legal team on their views
that the taxation hearing will be fixed to be heard sometime
in late 2021. The Company has paid the abovesaid amount
of HK$570,000 into court on 21 June 2021.

Having consulted the Company’s legal advisers, the directors
are of the view that further provision is not required for the above

legal proceedings.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant

capital commitments (2021: Nil).
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Company completed the capital reorganisation, which
became effective on 8 April 2022. Upon the capital
reorganisation, the par value of each issued existing shares
is reduced from HK$0.06 to HK$0.01 per issued existing
share by cancelling the paid up share capital to the extent
of HK$0.059 per issued existing share by way of a
reduction of capital. Details are disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 10 April 2022 and
the circular of the Company dated 26 January 2022.

(b) The Company issued a total of 4,490,346,480 new shares
on 17 May 2022 pursuant to the rights issue. Details are
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17
May 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 26
January 2022.

(c) The Company granted an aggregate of 149,664,000 share
options to the grantees on 24 May 2022. Details are
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 24
and 26 May 2022.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain of the comparative figures have been restated to
conform with current year’s presentation. The changes included
separate disclosure of items under “other income and expenses,

net”.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the

board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 June 2022.
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42. RBRERERNEH

(a)

REBE-E-_—_F=A=+—HLHF
B ARRTHBRAEHE  RAE
HRZTZ—FHANBER - R
REHAR  ERAERNARTHES
% B 31T IR A B 15 0.059 78 T K 82 A
AMEEHTRERNER 2 EEH
BREZETRBRNC.06 B THIRKE
001 FEHERARTHEBAE
ZEZ_FOATHNRAERART
HRER _ZT-__—HA-+/"BHA

KABBREBEHR-EBRR-_ZE-_—_FHA
++ B & 317 4,490,346,480 B 1%
B FBRERARFTAHA-Z
T CFRA+TEHMAERARNAH
AT —F— A=+ XEHMAK -

AARR - E-__FRA-FTWNERA
A AE LA $£149,664,00017 88 B
B ABEERNAARBHA-ST
TZFRAZFTWHABR-ZTSRAHA
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EEHEME
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-N\F ZE-NF ZE-TF —_FT-—F ZE-Z
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000  HK$000
FHEIT FHET FHETT FHEIT FHxT
RESULTS E
Revenue Wz 215,446 163,829 69,643 99,807 128,434
(Loss)/profit before tax BFLAT (E518) % F 46,117 15,610 (39,229) (17,116) 14,755
Income tax (expense)/credit FTisfi (Ax), #H&& (11,948) (7,849) 453 549 (6,911)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BR),/ &5 34,169 7,761 (38,776) (16,567) 7,844
Attributable to: AR & T FE(L
Equity holders of the Company N2 &lHEzS A A 15,290 33 (35,239) (17,974) (137)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR RS 18,879 7,728 (3,537) 1,407 7,981
34,169 7,761 (38,776) (16,567) 7,844
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
At 31 March
R=B=+—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—2-N\F ZE-NF ZE2-TF T —F ZBZ-F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000  HK$000
FHETT FHEIT FHIT FHEIT FET
Total assets BB E 812,450 807,938 780,103 867,063 924,222
Total liabilities BEE (495,887) (507,597) (542,483) (617,918) (652,426)
Total equity waRERS 316,563 300,341 237,620 249,145 271,796
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